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In this Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following RERER  BXEZAEREIN  UTAEEFLU

expressions shall have the following respective meanings: TAERRZ

"2022 AGM”

TE - —ERFBEART

“2022 EGM"

(T _FRREE7

"AGM(s)"”
MERBEFAE

“Articles of Association”

MEM =248

“Audit Committee”

rE2ZE849)

“Auditor”
Mz 8Am

“Board”
=

"CEQ"
MTEARE

"CG Code”
MZEER<FAL

“Chairman”

MEJE ]

“Company”

/N

“COVID-19"

T

“Director(s)”

==

"EGM(s)"
MR HIARE

“ESG”
F'ESG

2 Mayer Holdings Limited

the AGM to be held in Hong Kong on Wednesday, 14 December 2022;
BRZBZ_F+-A+HWE (BH=) REBRITHNRREFAS

the EGM held in Hong Kong on 22 April 2022;
RIB__FOB -+ HARNEBRITHNRERIAE;

the annual general meeting(s) of the Company;

ERBENRRBERSG ;

the articles of association of the Company;
NARABERMA ;

the audit committee of the Board;

EXEERERE;

the independent auditor of the Company;

A BB ILIZEED ;

the board of Directors;

BEYg;

the chief executive officer of the Company;

RABITHABE ;

the Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

EHRAMES TR EEEARTR

the chairman of the Board;

BEEEIF;

Mayer Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the issued shares of which are listed and traded on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1116);

EDERARAE —HRHAESHSEMMUNERRERAR  HEETRMNEBK

FRERLETRESE BRMHAIE:1116);

the novel coronavirus decease 2019;

HRTRAE ;

the director(s) of the Company;
KRBEE;

the extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company;

RABRRFTHARG ;

environmental, social and governance;
RE-HERER;

Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022



"

“Executive Director(s)
MITESR)

“Group”
TREE)

“Guangzhou Mayer”

MEE M SEEE )

“Harbour Prestige”

=1

"HK$"
=S

"HKAS”
MEEE AL

“HKEX"
B 2P

“HKFRS”
IEBMBREED

“HKICPA”
IEEGtEMAE)

“Hong Kong”

r&#)

“Independent Non-executive
Director(s)” or “INED(s)"

B IEMITESR)

“Listing Rules”

FEmRAL

“Memorandum”

il

“Model Code”

“NED(s)"or “Non-executive
Director(s)"”
MERMITEE

Glossary
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the executive Director(s);

HITES

the Company and its subsidiaries;
KRB REWNB LT ;

Guangzhou Mayer Corporation Limited, a core subsidiary of the Company operating in
Guangzhou, the PRC;
BEMNESHRAB ARARFPEEMNEENZOMBLRT ;

Harbour Prestige International Limited;

BRERARAS ;

the lawful currency of Hong Kong for the time being;

ERNEBEEE

the Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
EHE LA ;

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited;

ERRBREEMBRAT ;

the Hong Kong Financial Standards;
BEBYHER

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants;
EBEHIAE ;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
FEEBRITHRE ;

the independent non-executive Director(s);
BIUERITESE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange;

Bz PraE s EHARAL

the memorandum of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;
RABARET - MRBAUEMS B2 ABER KA ;

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules;
I EmARAIM ST LM BT AERETESRZN0RETE

the non-executive Director(s);

FFHITES

ETERAERAT 3
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“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board;

MR HEE) 15 BEEQRLEEY;

"PRC" or “Mainland China” The People’s Republic of China and for the purpose of this Report, excluding Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan;

TN AR ETpN 5 REARHNMEERMARSEMS  FEESH - RPIEINTREREE ;

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board;

&8 5 BERHFMNEET;

"Reporting Period” the 18-month period ended 30 June 2022;

MR &5 AAR 5 BE_ZE__FXRA=+HLE+NEBBBHE;

"RMB” Reminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC for the time being;

NS 5 AR AEERIEEEE ;

"SFO" the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

585 ARG 1R A 5 EBEOETIER S RBERG ;

“Share Option Scheme” the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 31 May 2019;

Mg R st &) 5 ARABRZE—NFEA=+—BHRMNERESTE;

“Shareholders” the holders of the Share(s);

Mg 5 RAFBEAN

“Share(s)"” the ordinary share(s) of par value of HK$0.20 each in the capital of the Company;

M3 5 RACRAFEREEO.20BTHEBER ;

"Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited; and

MBS 32T 5 ERMERBMBERAD ; &

“%" per cent.

% J 5 Batbe

In this Report, the terms “associate(s)”, “close associate(s)”, “connected M AIRET BFEXEZEFFIEN BB AL TE
person(s)”, “controlling shareholder(s)”, “subsidiary(ies)” and “substantial ~ ZREFZE A~ TRAE A+~ TR~ TIHB AT
shareholder(s)” shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the RITERF EEALHRIBTFTZEAENE
Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires. o

"
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Corporate Information
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

The Board resolved to change the financial year end date of the Company
from 31 December to 30 June. Immediately following such change, the
financial year end date of the Company was 30 June 2022 and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company required for publication
cover a period of 18 months from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022. Please

refer to the Company’ announcement dated 22 December 2021 for details.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

For the Reporting Period, the Group reported consolidated revenue of
approximately RMB902,652,000, representing an increase of 55.3%
compared to RMB581,112,000 for Year 2020. Gross profit margin was
13.2% compared to Year 2020’s 20.7%. The Group recorded loss for the
Reporting Period of approximately RMB8,819,000, compared to profit of
RMB20,680,000 for Year 2020. Loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB14,304,000, compared with
Year 2020’s profit attributable to owners of RMB15,854,000. Loss per share
for the Reporting Period was RMB0.66 cent versus Year 2020’s earnings per
share RMBO0.73 cent.

Although the revenue of the Group recorded an increase in the Reporting
Period as compared to that of Year 2020, the change from profit to loss was
mainly attributable to the following factors:

1. revenue in sale of steel products increased primarily owing to an increase
in domestic sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and other steel products
with a lower profit margin;

2. revenue in urban renewal project planning and consulting with a much
higher profit margin decreased terribly, resulting in gross loss of this
segment; and

3. operating expenses increased substantially, resulting in a lower profit
margin.

Further,
Company operated in Guangzhou, China and engaged in the steel business,

Guangzhou Mayer, the core 81.4%-owned subsidiary of the

recorded profit before tax for the Reporting Period of approximately
RMB36,464,000, representing a decrease of 6.7% compared to Year 2020’s
approximately RMB39,078,000.

BEEEs w2

EE& jﬁﬁr;n\ﬂﬁa
EXEFRBHARDNTBEFEELEEBBR T2
=+ HBEXANA=1TH REZEFE AR
TZEZ‘HEF;%E%E%_E::EF/‘—\EEJrEI’
MAABAHNEZRERGEHMBERREEEZ

_—EF—E—EIZ’E_g__E/‘_\EZTLEIJr/\
BEBE -FEFLHEARTEHRR - —F
AT+ ZRZAE

e o)

RESH FEEERETREZNARE
902,652,000 BR-ZZE_ZEFEZARE
581,112,0007C3EMN55.3% c EFEAH13.2% > M
TETZFERR207% AEBREREHE
B AKYS,819,0007 MZZ - FEA#x1S

A AR #20,680,00070 c REBAABHEA A
FELE AR ARE14,304,0000 M2
FERAABERS ARMGEN ARE15,854,0007T °
REHERBEAARED M2
FEAAESRBINAREK073D-

BERSHEAERARGR _T _ZEEAME
m HEEENTIERAROT

1. MREEEREEM DEEHRFEER
RBYSEE 8 M e H 1t 8 5 53 B P9 85 & 1 0
ATl ;

2. 5F395ETE]E@1EJZFEE%EIEE%E%'JE’Z%%“%’E]%?%
W AR B ERUE D MHIRERBIE ; &

3. RERAXABIEIN SRR HERTE-

UEoh» IR EHR > EINED (R ARHERS1.4%K
B2 ZOWB AR KRB EMNEE tFHlME
F) B1S BRI AR R A A R #536,464,0007T > B Z
Z-ZFELHARKRE39,078,0007T FEL6.7% ©

ETERAERAT 7
HZE202266 530 IH18E B 2 3 RE



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

BUSINESS REVIEW

Steel Pipes, Steel Sheets and Other Steel Products

As the COVID-19 pandemic continued to wreak havoc around the world
in the first half of 2021, the government of China adjusted its economic
policies to adopt the “Dual Circulation” economic development strategy
and give the Chinese economy growth momentum notwithstanding a
general decline in the world economy. Under the circumstances, Guangzhou
Mayer seized the development opportunities in a timely manner under the
leadership of its operations management team by duly understanding the
national development strategy, surmounting all difficulties, re-positioning its
segments and taking advantage of the current trends. Tremendous effort has
been put into, among other things, production, operation, market expansion
and technological innovation. As a result, Guangzhou Mayer had not only
achieved all its major economic goals during that period, but also obtained a
number of accolades such as the certificates for Recommended Products of
Green and Energy-Saving, China Construction Projects Recommended, High
and New Tech Enterprises Recognition and Enterprise Credit Evaluation Credit
Grade AAA Enterprise.

As to market expansion, Guangzhou Mayer grasped the opportunities
brought by the adjustment in the national development strategy and carefully
analysed and identified suitable markets during the first three quarters of
2021. It motivated its sales personnel, improved their consciousness on
services, adopted online marketing and developed domestic valued clients.
However, since the fourth quarter of 2021, due to trade frictions and disputes
between China and the United States, tariffs had been imposed on the steel
products exported overseas. This reduced the Group’s overseas customers’
demand for carbon steel products, resulting in a decrease in orders for such
products of Guangzhou Mayer. In response thereto, the Group gradually
increased the domestic sales of carbon steel products to offset the reduction
of sales caused by the decrease in export orders.

In terms of product sales, sales revenue for the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB901,176,000, representing an increase of 67.9% as
compared with RMB536,646,000 for Year 2020. In particular, sales revenue
from carbon steel products and stainless steel products were approximately
RMB691,582,000 and RMB209,594,000, respectively, representing increases
of 67.8% and 68.3%, respectively, as compared with those of Year 2020.

8 Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In respect of production and operation management, Guangzhou Mayer
made efforts to enhance, among other things, the technological level of
its production equipment, production efficiency, product quality and cost
control. As regards further operation management, an online marketing
model for all sales personnel was implemented for them to surmount the
inconvenience brought by the fight against the pandemic by carrying out
their work to develop new clients and retain existing ones through the
Internet. The management model of knowledge and skills framework (“KSF")
comprehensive performance-based appraisal and a points-based system were
fully implemented in order to motivate staff and improve their work efficiency.
A mentorship scheme and a skills competition were held to enhance staff’s
production skills, reduce production costs and thus effectively boost the
Group's profit.

As to technological innovation, the applications for 9 patents had been
submitted and were accepted. Meanwhile, additional efforts were put
into upgrading and replacing production equipment in order to enhance
production efficiency and capacity. A number of new intelligent automatic
equipment were developed by collaborating with the Guangdong University
of Technology in China and intelligent manufacturing enterprises in order
to maintain the Company’s leading position in the industry in terms of
production technology. The Group also proactively participated in several
construction and water supply associations in China in order to stay abreast
with the latest market development, actively participate in the formulation
and improvement of domestic industrial standards and regulations, and
highlight its leading position in the industry.

Despite its efforts, Guangzhou Mayer recorded a lower profit from steel
products for the the Reporting Period as compared with Year 2020.

Urban Renewal Projects Planning and Consulting

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had several urban renewal planning and
consulting service projects in progress. Located in Zhuhai, China, these
projects had an estimated site area of approximately 480 mu in total (subject
to the final approval by the government) within their redevelopment zones.
The land survey of a project known as the old village redevelopment project
of Yuetang Village* (B E#) located in Sanzao Town, Jinwan District, Zhuhai
(the “Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project”) was completed. The
proposal of the redevelopment units was being produced, pending review and
approval by the relevant government authorities.

BEEEs w2

FEEKEEERTE BEMNEDENCEEES
BOKRME REEERNE - RAEREE
B AEZEFE - FE—FPNEKEEEL @ B
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Mo RAT MK -FWMIUESH AR
MM AL S R B T EERE BET
EEMS ZERGFN R AR -

ERMAF A E ERFIESHN T ERERE H
RMREERBNAREBESL  BALEENEN
BN - BRATREERIX RSB RHMESE
HETLENGF HELSERUEEEHER
B MR ARBEERMHNITERAMUE -FEH
THEBE2EBNRERBKIBE REEETS
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TTEFEo
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ETERAERAT 9
HZE202266 530 IH18E B 2 3 RE



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

The Group will conduct its urban renewal projects planning and consulting
services for the redevelopment of old towns, factories and villages (the
“Three Olds”) in a market-oriented manner. Respective preliminary service
agreements have been signed. However, the progress of these projects has
been inevitably affected by the intermittent COVID-19 outbreaks since the
beginning of 2020.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s urban renewal projects planning
and consulting services recorded a revenue of RMB1,476,000 (Year 2020:
RMB44,466,000). Its operation in Zhuhai witnessed sluggish progress
and unsatisfactory results though the Group has been following up the
“Three Olds” redevelopment embarked in 2020. Presently, the Directors
and members of the senior management in charge of the Group's project
companies still believe that participating in the “Three Olds” redevelopment
projects by way of consulting service could be one of the Group’s business
strategies. With extensive knowledge of the real estate markets in the Greater
Bay Area and Zhuhai, the project companies of the Group have conducted
in-depth researches in their subject land lots. With such knowledge and
research, the Group will select and develop more land lots with strategic
value in these regions while actively identifying more projects with a
demand for consulting services as well as expanding the Group's business
in these markets. The Group also continues coordinating and facilitating
project co-ordination, reporting and development while closely following
up the promulgation of rules and measures in relation to the “Three Olds”
redevelopment policy so as to expedite the application, approval and other
preliminary internal and external procedures of its projects.

Yuetang Village Redevelopment Project

Reference is made to the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 11
June 2019 (as amended by certain supplemental agreements) entered into
among (i) Elate Ample Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Purchaser”); (i) Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned by the
Guarantor (as defined below) and presently a substantial shareholder of the
Company (the “Vendor”); (iii) Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, the beneficial owner of
the Vendor and presently an executive Director (the “Guarantor”); and
(iv) the Company in relation to the sale and purchase of the entire issued
share capital of Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited, presently an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Target Company”
and the “Share Capital”, respectively) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder at a consideration of HK$260 million (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”).

The Target Company owns Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang Property Development
Limited Br/8ZEE A E2FEEME B RAS) (the "Hua Fa Yue Tang”), a
company established in the PRC and managing the project of Yuetang Village
(B Z#) located in Sanzhao Town, Jinwan District, Zhuhai.

'l O Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022

2 & B By 4 T B T IR B AR B K 5B 5 AR 7 i = L
THERTEAETREERT THRANE (T=
B AMARE _Z_ZFEYESHNNERE
BIERHETEEIREE  BERROA AR HZ
ERE BIFEEETREMZ T E-

RREH  AEBENH T EHREL RE R EHR
BEBUWAAR1,476,000T (T2 ZEFE A
R 1544,466,00070) -BEAER—ERENR_-Z
TEFERNTZE S BERKENERE
RER BRIBAB- R BEAEEEBEER
BINEEReREERERENBAULHARBET
N2HRTZE WERAZP I URRERER
NERBRKRZ — - BEAERESRATHAEERE
Fe R8T 5 #th EE B9 2R 232 A7 LUK 3 B AR th ER BY R
AR AEBEBEENHRZSHERES
EABBEEEDN Lt WNBRYETRHEZLSR
RBPOBEERL RE—FTHELREBRNZES
BHEF AEERBYRE =& UEBRN
AR BERE BN @EGEEEEBRE P
HREFHESHEMIF UNEEEBBBRIINEILE
EHREAHARE e

BENEHFEE
ZX3R () Elate Ample Limited (Z AT 2 2 BB
~E) (TEFY (iEE (—EHERA (EX
TX) 2EHEBZARARBRARABT ZEERE)
(T&AD (At EE ( BAZEREREAR
RWANTES) (BRAD ; RWAREMEER
H(EB)MBTEREEERAR RAEEXRTZ
HE2EWNBRE) (BEAT) 2HBEETRAE
(TRREDFTUZEREAE_ZE—NEXAB+—H
ZERHEERG R (RETHRABRES]D RELE
RETZR 5 R1E%5260,000,0008 T (TE&EW

) o

BERABEAKEBELREREMNERRAT
(MTEERAE  —BRPRBERLINAE EEUN
wEhEBE _HENAENER) -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Slow-down of Business
The unprecedented pandemic event of COVID-19, indeed, slowed down the
business development of the Target Company in the following ways:

(i) delay in completion of property development projects due to (a) delay
in the supply of construction materials; (b) labour shortage as a result
of the mandatory quarantine policy; and (c) delay in decisions made
in relation to the Yuetang Village Re-development Project as physical
inspections and meetings could not be arranged; and

(i) the increased difficulties and/or hesitation for potential buyers to perform
site-visits during COVID-19 and the negative impact brought to the
general economy of Zhuhai City in the PRC, which affected the property
purchasing momentum.

Guaranteed Target Profit Level

Based on the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Target
Company for the three financial years ended 31 December 2021, the
accumulated audited consolidated profit after tax of the Target Company
after the completion of the purchase of the Share Capital by the Purchaser
(the "Acquisition and the “Accumulated Net Profit”, respectively) was
approximately RMB27,486,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,983,000),
representing a shortfall of approximately RMB189,181,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$227,017,000) as compared to the target profit level of
HK$260 million (the “Target Profit Level”) to be achieved by the Target
Company.

On 11 March 2022, the Purchaser, the Vendor, the Guarantor and the
Company entered into a conditional supplemental agreement to the Sale
and Purchase Agreement for, among others, the extension of time for
the Target Company to meet the Target Profit Level for 18 months (the
“Supplemental Agreement”).

The Acquisition constituted a major transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further, the Guarantor and the Vendor
are connected persons (defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company
and accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Supplemental
Agreement constitute a non-exempt connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to, amongst others,
the approval of the Shareholders (other than the Vendor, the Guarantor and
their respective associates (defined under the Listing Rules)) not interested in
the Supplemental Agreement (the “Independent Shareholders”) at an
EGM to be convened.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

An independent board committee comprising all the current INEDs (the
“Independent Board Committee”) has been established to advise
the Independent Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Supplemental
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder. An independent
financial adviser (the "Independent Financial Adviser”) has been
appointed to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders in this regard.

A circular containing, among other things, further details of the Supplemental
Agreement, the recommendation of the Independent Board Committee,
the advice of the Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders (the “Circular”), and a notice
of the EGM, should be despatched to the Shareholders as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Extension of Long Stop Date

Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, completion of the transactions
contemplated thereunder was conditional upon the fulfillment of the
condition precedent to the Supplemental Agreement on or before 31 July
2022 (the "Long Stop Date”). As additional time is required for the
fulfillment of the condition precedent to the Supplemental Agreement, on
29 July 2022, the Purchaser, the Vendor, the Guarantor and the Company
entered into a second supplemental agreement, pursuant to which the
Long Stop Date shall be extended to 31 July 2023. Save as disclosed above,
all other terms and conditions of the Supplemental Agreement remain
unchanged and shall continue in full force and effect.

Delay in Despatch of Circular

As additional time is required to finalise certain information in the Circular,
the despatch date of the Circular is expected to be postponed to a date
falling on or before 31 October 2022.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 14 March, 1
and 29 April, 1 June as well as 14 and 29 July, 2022, respectively.

Environmental Technology Related Business

It has come to the Board's attention that environmental protection related
issues in the PRC have been one of the topics being focused and mentioned
in the 13th and 14th Five Year Plans for Economic and Social Development
of the PRC, each of which aims to, including but not limited, contain
carbon pollution and emission and promote and encourage the use of green
building materials. Driven by the strengthening policies and the enforcement
of environmental protection regulations made by the PRC government,
the Board considers that there will be continuous substantial demand
and opportunities for the integration and application of environmental
technologies for the purposes of lowering operation and production costs and
improving services quality and efficiency in the PRC to support and maintain
its rapid urbanization and industrialization development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Board also considers that the Grantee (as defined below), a company
principally engaged in the provision of business and consultancy services,
may leverage on its expertise in investment advisory services and its business
network to provide certain consultancy services to the Group to assist
and facilitate the development of the Group’s environmental technology
related business (i.e. applying or provision of environmental technologies,
products, equipment and systems in the production of steel compounds and
other industrial compound materials)(the “Environmental Technology
Business”).

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement
with Sino Light Investment Advisory Limited (the “"Grantee”) regarding
the appointment of the Grantee as a consultant of the Company for the
provision to the Group of, amongst others, the following services for or in
relation to the development of the Environmental Technology Business (the
“"Consultancy Services”) for a term of two years (the "Consultancy
Agreement”) from the completion date of the Consultancy Agreement:

(i) the business and investment, consultation and advisory services;

(ii) screening, identifying and introducing potential quality business partners
to the Group, and assisting the Group in entering into joint venture
agreement(s) and/or business cooperation agreement(s) with such
partners; and

(iii) proposing viable financial solutions to the Group for development of the
Environmental Technology Business,

Pursuant to the Consultancy Agreement, the Board resolved to grant
share options of the Company to the Grantee to subscribe for a total of
174,800,000 Shares (the "Options”) at the exercise price of HK$0.2 per
Share under the Share Option Scheme as consideration for the Consultancy
Services. Completion of the Consultancy Agreement was conditional upon
the passing of the necessary resolutions by the Shareholders at an EGM
to be convened, approving the grant of Options to the Grantee and the
transactions contemplated thereunder. An EGM was held on 22 April 2022
and the relevant resolutions were passed by the Shareholders thereat. The
Consultancy Agreement was completed on 25 April 2022.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 12 January 2022, circular
dated 30 March 2022 and announcement dated 22 April 2022 for details.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Segment Revenue and Gross Profit

(i)

(ii)

Production and Sales of Steel Products
In disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers, the revenue
from:

(a) domestic sales of steel products in the PRC during the Reporting
Period was approximately RMB793,028,000, representing an
increase of approximately 74.5% compared with Year 2020's
approximately RMB454,416,000;

(b) indirect export sales of steel products in the PRC during the
Reporting Period was approximately RMB65,744,000, representing
an increase of approximately 24.2% compared with approximately
RMB52,942,000 for Year 2020; and

(c) direct export sales of steel products outside the PRC during the
Reporting Period was approximately RMB42,404,000, representing
an increase of approximately 44.8% while it was approximately
RMB29,288,000 for Year 2020.

As a result, the aggregate revenue of this segment increased by 67.9%
from approximately RMB536,646,000 for Year 2020 to approximately
RMB901,176,000 for the Reporting Period.

This segment recorded gross profit of approximately RMB117,235,000
for the Reporting Period, with a gross profit margin of approximately
13.0%, compared with gross profit of approximately RMB75,851,000
and gross profit margin of approximately 14.1% for Year 2020. The
gross profit margin decreased due to an increase in domestic sale
of steel pipes, steel sheets and steel products with a lower profit
margin. The segment profit for the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB36,464,000 (Year 2020: RMB39,078,000).

Urban Renewal Project Planning and Consulting

During the Reporting Period, revenue of approximately RMB1,476,000
was recorded from this segment (Year 2020: RMB44,466,000).
Recognition of revenue in this segment mainly depends on the progress
of the redevelopment projects accordingly. The segment loss was
approximately RMB7,725,000 (Year 2020: profit of approximately
RMB34,703,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consolidated Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB902,652,000, gross
profit of approximately RMB118,711,000 and a gross profit margin of
approximately 13.1% for the Reporting Period, compared with revenue
of approximately RMB581,112,000, gross profit of approximately
RMB120,317,000 and a gross profit margin of approximately 20.7% for Year
2020. The substantial decrease in gross profit margin was mainly attributable
to (a) the volume increase in domestic sales of steel pipe, steel sheets and
other steel products with a lower profit margin; and (b) the terrible decrease
in revenue of the urban renewal project planning and consulting segment,
resulting in gross loss.

Other Income

The Group’s other income increased from approximately RMB11,258,000
for Year 2020 to approximately RMB24,637,000 for the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, the Group received a subsidy from the local
government authorities of the PRC of approximately RMB4,712,000 (Year
2020: RMB1,867,000) for supporting the Group's operation and encouraging
innovation of production technology, and recorded an increase of scrap
sales from approximately RMB8,037,000 for Year 2020 to approximately
RMB18,344,000 for the Reporting Period.

Other Net Gain

The Group turned from other net loss of approximately RMB9,026,000
for Year 2020 to other net gain of approximately RMB2,525,000 for
the Reporting Period. The turnaround was mainly due to the reversal of
impairment on trade and other receivables and net exchange gain.

Operating Expenses

The total operating expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period were
approximately RMB131,100,000 (Year 2020: RMB74,886,000), of which
approximately RMB60,931,000 was distribution costs, approximately
RMB70,163,000 was administrative expenses and approximately RMB6,000
was other operating expenses, accounting for approximately 46.5%, 53.5%
and 0% of revenue for the Reporting Period respectively, while the amounts
for Year 2020 were approximately RMB33,723,000, RMB41,125,000 and
RMB38,000 respectively, accounting for approximately 45.0%, 54.9% and
0.1% of revenue for Year 2020, respectively. The increase in operating
expenses was mainly due to increases of entertainment expenses and salary.
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Finance Costs

During the Reporting Period, the Group incurred finance costs of
approximately RMB17,915,000 (Year 2020: RMB14,442,000), of which
the interest for a promissory note issued in the Acquisition (as stated in
the “Urban Renewal Projects Planning and Consulting” paragraph of the
Business Review above) amounted to approximately RMB13,269,000 (Year
2020: RMB12,112,000). Others were bank interest expenses of approximately
RMB3,877,000 (2020: RMB1,920,000), lease liabilities interest of
approximately RMB135,000 (2020: RMB273,000) and other finance charges
of approximately RMB634,000 (2020: RMB137,000).

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result, the Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the Reporting Period of approximately RMB14,304,000 whereas recording
profit attributable to owners of the Company for Year 2020 of approximately
RMB15,854,000.

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at 30 June 2022, the property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB53,028,000, representing an increase of approximately
11.7% when compared to approximately RMB47,482,000 as at 31 December
2020, mainly attributable to additions to construction of property in progress.

As at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2020, no property, plant and
equipment of the Group were pledged to secure any borrowings granted to
the Group.

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liabilities

As at 30 June 2022, the Group recognized the right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities amounting to approximately RMB5,377,000 and
RMB203,000 respectively, as compared to approximately RMB7,820,000
and RMB2,421,000 respectively as at 31 December 2020. The Group leases
various land and buildings and its lease agreements are typically made for
fixed periods of 2 years. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease
term on a straight-line basis. Accordingly, depreciation of right-of-use assets
for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB2,050,000 (Year 2020:
RMB1,783,000).

Interest in an Associate

Through the completion of the Acquisition, the Group commenced a new
business line on urban renewal project planning and consulting since then.
The Target Company, through its invested company Hua Fa Yue Tang, as an
associate of the Company, of which a 49% equity interest was indirectly
owned by the Company, operates the redevelopment project of Yuetang
Village* (B Z#Y) located in Sanzhao Town, Jinwan District, Zhuhai City, the
PRC. Details of the Acquisition were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 11 June, 12 September, 30 September and 31 October 2019
and 26 November 2020, respectively and the circular of the Company dated
23 August 2019.
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Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

As at 30 June 2022, the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
generated from the Acquisition amounted to RMBNil (31 December 2020:
RMB19,000). Contingent consideration receivable of RMBNil (31 December
2019: RMBNil) and put option of RMBNil (31 December 2019: RMB19,000)
were designated at these financial assets which were stated at fair value.
These valuations were performed by an independent professional valuer,
which revalued the financial assets as at 30 June 2022 according to the fair
value requirements under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Inventories

As at 30 June 2022, the inventories amounted to approximately
RMB93,543,000 (31 December 2020: RMB87,635,000), representing a
6.7% increase and an aggregation of stock in various status, being raw
materials, work-in-progress, finished goods and goods-in-transit. Raw
materials decreased by 34.6% from approximately RMB43,533,000 as at 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB28,449,000 as at 30 June 2022 and
finished goods increased by 65.8% from approximately RMB37,762,000 as 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB62,598,000 as at 30 June 2022. The
substantial increase in finished goods was due to lower sales in the first half
of 2022 caused by the COVID-19.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables amounted to approximately RMB367,614,000
as at 30 June 2022, representing a decrease of 4.4% when compared
to approximately RMB384,721,000 as at 31 December 2020, which was
a combined effect of decreases in trade receivables of 10.2% and bills
receivables of 73.4%, and increases of prepayment and other deposit of
3.5%, other receivables of 182% and amount due from joint venture of
18.74%. The substantial decrease in bills receivables was mainly owing to the
maturity of most of the bills receivables and lower sales in the first half of
2022 and the substantial increase in other receivables was mainly owing to
the refund from a supplier for failure to provide materials for production.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables amounted to approximately RMB115,447,000 as
at 30 June 2022, representing an increase of approximately 16.9% when
compared to approximately RMB98,749,000 as at 31 December 2020.
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Borrowings

As at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2020, the Group's outstanding
borrowings were approximately RMB7,637,000 and RMB40,000,000,
respectively. The loan of RMB4,000,000 from a bank in the PRC bearing fixed
interest rates of 4.35% to 5.22% per annum was repaid in the Reporting
Period. There were loans from third parties dominated in HK$ and bearing
interest rates of 8% to 10% per annum in the Reporting Period.

No assets of the Group were pledged to secured the borrowings as at 30 June
2022 and 31 December 2020.

Promissory Notes

Upon the completion date of the Acquisition, a subsidiary of the Company
issued promissory notes with a principal amount of HK$158,000,000 as part
of the settlement of the consideration for the Acquisition (the “PNs”). The
PNs bore interest at 3% per annum payable semi-annually and the maturity
date was 2 years from the date of issue. The fair value of the PNs upon
issuance was assessed at approximately RMB122,260,000 (HK$136,089,944)
by an independent professional valuer. The effective interest rate of the PNs
was 10%.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
TREASURY POLICIES

As at 30 June 2022, the authorised share capital of the Company
was approximately RMB724,843,000 (HK$800,000,000) divided into
4,000,000,000 Shares and the issued share capital of the Company
was approximately RMB391,760,000 (HK$431,600,000) divided into
2,158,000,000 Shares. As at the date of this report, the share capital of the
Company comprises ordinary Shares only.

During the Reporting Period, the Group financed its operations by (i) cash
flow from operating activities; (ii) borrowings from a bank, a financial
institution and a third party; and (iii) funding through an open offer in late
2018.

The Group continues to adhere to prudent treasury policies. The Group
continued to insure against major receivables in order to lower the risks of
credit sales and to ensure that funds would be recovered on a timely basis,
hence fulfilling the requirements for debt repayments and working capital
commitments.

The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB215,999,000 as
at 30 June 2022 as compared with RMB231,347,000 as at 31 December
2020. The current ratio (i.e. current assets divided by current liabilities) was
approximately 1.8 times as at 30 June 2022, same as that as at 31 December
2020.

'l 8 Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022

(=

R _E__HFRNA=TERKRZZEZZEF+ZAH
=+—B FAEEZKREEEEDNORARE
7,637,00075 % A B #40,000,0007T © f1 #1 E — S
RITIRMIREEEMNEL35%E5.22%tE2E
MAK 14,000,000t BN R EHAANEIE - |REH
NERZLE=FIRMLUBTTEHE RFEN K%
E10%stRZEM

RIE_—_FXRB=1+tHKRZZEZEEFE+_AH
—t+—H AEEHMEANRSEERFHEEE-
ARERE

RKBEETRBR ARABZHBABETTA

£ %73158,000,000B w2 AR RE > (ESWE
FEABZHINR (ARER) - AREHR
FRNR3I%st B BFFRE—R - HNHASBEHE
THEESME - AREBERETHZAAEE
H—aBE I hEMFERARY122,260,000
70 (136,089,944% %) - AR RBFE 2 BEMER
10% °

BEXRB -MBERKREHEE

RIEZZEANA=Z+H FRABZEEREHN
# AR 16724,843,0007T (800,000,000 7T) * 9
#4,000,000,0008 815 > A AT Z B #EITRAE
#A AR 1391,760,0007T (431,600,00057T)
3%2,158,000,000R 8% 10 c RASIRE BEHR » &AAQ
B EEEEER.

REEH AEBLUOEEETHEEZREMNE ;
(iZRBI|IT - MHBEBRE=HZMEE; Ez(uﬂﬁ’:\
TE-N\ERAHBEZETHEHEE

FEE-—BRABHZEHFBRR FAEBEER
T ERWGRIER (R > DABE R SR8 o B o 30 i 1R 78 B
BEES MR EEEREEESREZER

AEBR _Z__FA=+HZRHEERE
WA ANRM215,999,0000 MR ZE2EZZ2F+Z
B=+—HRAIAAEKE®231,347,0007¢ c s B LE =
(BPRBBEERURBAER R _FA
=tHEO/mI8E R _E_EF+__A=+—H
87 18mR e



Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had a balance of approximately
RMB7,637,000 borrowings from a financial institution and a third party to
finance the Group's working capital and capital expenditures (31 December
2020: from a bank of RMB40,000,000).

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded net cash inflow of
approximately RMB21,471,000 from its operating activities. The amount was
mainly attributed to the loss before tax of approximately RMB3,367,000,
together with finance cost of approximately RMB17,915,000, depreciation
of approximately RMB7,315,000, depreciation of right-of-use assets
of RMB2,050,000, which were offset by net change in inventories of
approximately RMB5,908,000, but were compensated by net change
in trade and other receivables of approximately RMB17,915,000 and
net change in trade and other payables of RMB16,698,000. Net cash
outflow of approximately RMB12,742,000 was from investing activities
for the Reporting Period, mainly caused by the payment for purchase of
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB13,819,000. Net cash
outflow of approximately RMB40,621,000 from financing activities for the
Reporting Period mainly resulted from the repayment of the bank loan. Bank
deposits and cash balances as at 30 June 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB33,201,000, which was mainly denominated in Renminbi and HK dollars
(31 December 2020: RMB37,575,000).

The debt-to-equity ratio (i.e. total liabilities divided by issued share capital)
as at 30 June 2022 was approximately 71.1% while it was approximately
71.3% as at 31 December 2020. Current portion of borrowings accounted
for approximately 1.0% and 5.2% of the total assets of the Group as at 30
June 2022 and 31 December 2020, respectively.

Update on the use of proceeds from Open Offer

On 20 July 2018, the Company entered into underwriting agreements in
relation to the underwriting and certain other arrangements in respect of an
open offer on the basis of four offer shares for every one share in issue and
held by the Shareholders on 26 October 2018, being the record date, at the
subscription price of HK$0.2 each (the "Open Offer”). The Open Offer was
completed on 19 November 2018 and totally 1,398,400,000 offer shares
were issued. The net proceeds of the Open Offer amounted to approximately
RMB243,873,000 (HK$274,894,000) (equivalent to a net price of
approximately HK$0.2 per offer share). Details of the Open Offer were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 16 January, 20 July, 18 September
and 19 November 2018, the Company’s circular dated 21 September 2018
and the Company’s prospectus dated 29 October 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

During Year 2020, the Company re-allocated partial of the unused proceeds
of capital expenditure in the amount of approximately RMB43,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$50,955,000 based on the exchange rate of
RMB1 = HK$1.185) to general working capital to support the daily business
of the Group. Details of the change of use of proceeds were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 21 December 2020 and 20 January 2021.

As at 30 June 2022, approximately RMB43,396,000 (HK$48,761,000) was
used for settling legal, consulting and professional fees and other costs
and expenses arising from trading resumption of the Shares, approximately
RMB57,024,000 (HK$64,074,000) was used for repayment of outstanding
loans, approximately RMB4,713,000 (HK$5,296,000) was used for settling
Directors’ remuneration, approximately RMB38,502,000 (HK$46,295,000)
was used for capital expenditure, approximately RMB83,919,000
(HK$100,645,000) was used for the general working capital of the Group
and the remaining balance of approximately RMB8,169,000 (HK$9,823,000)
remained unutilized, which is expected to be utilized mainly in the year
ending 30 June 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB, US dollars and HK dollars and those currencies remained relatively
stable during the Reporting Period, the Group was not exposed to any
significant foreign exchange risk. In general, it is the Group’s policy for each
operating entity to borrow in local currencies, where necessary, to minimize
currency risk.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 30 June 2022, no assets were pledged to banks, financial institutions or
a third party for securing banking or other financing facilities granted to the
Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Writs of summons against the Company

On 29 March 2012, writs of summons were issued by Capital Wealth Finance
Company Limited and Capital Wealth Corporation Limited against the
Company to claim a sum of HK$15,500,000 plus relevant legal costs incurred/
to be incurred. The Company intends to contest the claim. In the Directors’
opinion, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have a material impact on the
Group's financial position.

Claims against the Company

On 14 April 2021, the Company received two writs of summons under action
numbers HCA 548 of 2020 and HCA 213 of 2021 issued in the High Court
of Hong Kong by the solicitors acting for plaintiffs against the Company
(as defendant). The plaintiffs alleged that the Company was indebted to
them pursuant to convertible notes (principal amount of HK$90,000,000 in
aggregate) and a promissory note (principal amount of HK$300,000,000)
issued in May 2011 by the Company (the “Claims”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

After seeking professional advice from the legal advisor, and to the best
of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquires, the Board believes that the claimants are attempting
to cause harm to the interests of the Company through the use of legal
proceedings. Accordingly, the Company will strenuously defend the Claims
reserve the right to
counterclaim against the claimants, and use its best endeavours to safeguard
the overall interests of the Shareholders. In the Directors’ opinion, the Claims,
if any, will not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position.

in compliance with applicable laws and regulations,

Details of the Claims were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 14 April and 6 May 2021, respectively.

LEGAL CASES UPDATE

Claim Disputes in Shenzhen

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 13 October
2017, 5 October, 20 November and 27 November 2018 as well as 19
March 2020, respectively and circular dated 23 August 2019, Guangzhou
Mayer had provided investments in aggregate amounting to RMB50 million,
doubtfully, to three investment companies by the former management of
Guangzhou Mayer. The current management of Guangzhou Mayer considers
these investments as deceitful acts committed by the former management
of Guangzhou Mayer and the three investment companies, and so proper
legal actions have been conducted by Guangzhou Mayer for recovering
these investments, including filing claim petitions to the People’s Court of
Qianhai Cooperation District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province* (the “Court
of Qianhai"”)* and reporting to the relevant police department in the PRC.
In October 2018, the People’s Court of Futian District of Shenzhen City*
(the “Futian District Court”) had taken up the mentioned petitions
from the Court of Qianhai and had a hearing on 20 November 2018. The
Futian District Court made decisions that two defendants shall repay in total
RMB30 million plus interest for the Reporting Period of possession of the
fund to Guangzhou Mayer. Auditors of the Company expressed their qualified
opinion on the issue in the audited financial statement for the year ended 31
December 2018 with full impairment made in the same year.

Guangzhou Mayer is considering to apply for a civil lawsuit against the
ultimate beneficial owner of two defendants, as Guangzhou Mayer has
received notices from the Futian District Court that the two defendants did
not have any executable assets for legal enforcement procedure to settle the
claims according to such court decisions.

Further announcement(s) will be made to update on the progress of the
matter as and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

Suspected Breach of Fiduciary Duties by Former Directors

As announced by the Company on 2 December 2021, the Company
became aware that Mr. Xu Lidi (“Mr. Xu"), the former Chairman and
Executive Director, and Mr. Wang Donggqi (“Mr. Wang"), a former Non-
executive Director, were suspected of in breach of their fiduciary duties
owed towards the Company by abusing the use of the corporate chops of
Bamian Investments Pte Ltd (“Bamian”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company holding 81.4% of the equity interests of Guangzhou Mayer, to
unlawfully dismiss the office of Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (“Mr. Lee”), presently
the Chairman and an Executive Director, Mr. Lin Jinhe (“Mr. Lin") and Ms.
Wan Liman (“Ms. Wan") as directors of Guangzhou Mayers. In light of the
above, the Board resolved to, among other matters, take legal actions against
Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang for their suspected breaches of fiduciary duties as and
when necessary.

On 17 January 2022, a hearing of the High Court of Hong Kong (the “High
Court”) in respect of the interlocutory injunction application (the “Action”)
filed by the Company, as plaintiff, on 6 January 2022 against Mr. Xu and
Mr. Wang (together with Mr. Xu, the "Defendants”), as defendants, took
place. The Company claimed that the Defendants had acted in ways that
were in breach of the undertaking letters signed by them on 4 August 2017
in favour of the Company, which stipulated that each of the Defendants
shall, among other things, act in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. As advised by the Hong Kong legal advisers of the
Company (the “Legal Advisers"”) and as stated in the statement of claim
of the Action, the Company claimed against the Defendants, amongst others,
an order that the Defendants do deliver up the company seal, financial seal,
contract seal, invoice seal, financial department seal, board of directors’ seal
and legal representative seal of each of Guangzhou Mayer and certain indirect
subsidiaries of the Company in Guangzhou and Shenzhen.

On 20 January 2022, the Company received a sealed copy of the order
from the High Court that the application for the interim injunctive relief
under the Action (the "Application”) be dismissed. As advised by the
Legal Advisers, despite the Company's efforts in seeking to persuade the
Court that Hong Kong is the proper forum for the dispute to be determined
based on the separate undertaking letters signed by each of Mr. Xu and
Mr. Wang respectively, the High Court decided not to exercise its discretion
to allow the application for service out of jurisdiction the writ of summons
and the relevant documents of the High Court on Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang as
defendants. The reasons given by the High Court were that as the reliefs
sought concerned the seals of subsidiary companies incorporated in the
PRC and involved questions of the PRC law, the more suitable forum for
adjudicating the disputes among the Company, Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang should
be the courts in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company is still in the course of seeking legal advice on the above and,
among other things, considering the initiation of legal proceedings in the PRC
and/or Singapore against Mr. Xu and/or Mr. Wang to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Company will keep the Shareholders and the potential investors informed
of any further material developments in connection with the above by way of
further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 2 December 2021 as
well as 10, 11 and 20 January and 6 April 2022, respectively for details.

Setting up of Independent Investigation Committee

In December 2021, the Board set up an independent investigation committee
(the "IIC") comprising Mr. Chan Chun Kit (“Mr. Chan”), Mr. Lau Kwok
Hung and Mr. Wong Chi Kin (“Mr. Wong"”), all being the INEDs, with Mr.
Chan as chairman, to investigate the suspected breach of fiduciary duties
by Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang and the allegations made by Mr. Xu as mentioned
under the “Former Executive Director’s Allegations” sub-section below.
In mid-December 2021, an independent forensic and corporate recovery
company (the “Independent Investigator”) was appointed by the IIC to
perform an investigation on the relevant matters and report its findings to
the IIC based on its investigation results. In mid-January 2022, the IIC also
referred the allegations made by Mr. Wang as mentioned under the “Former
Non-Executive Director’s Allegations” sub-section below to the Independent
Investigator for investigation.

Following the resignation of Mr. Wong as an INED and the appointment of
Mr. Lu Jianping as an INED, on 28 February 2022, Mr. Lu Jianping became a
member of the IIC in substitution of Mr. Wong.

The Independent Investigator issued its report in early April 2022
(the “Il Report”) and the IIC reviewed the Il Report and provided its
recommendations to the Board. The Board concurred with the Il Report and
the IIC's recommendations for prompt implementation. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 6 April 2022.

Based on its findings, the Independent Investigator is of the view that Mr. Xu
and Mr. Wang were in breach of their fiduciary duties owed to the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

Directorship and Management Committee in Guangzhou Mayer
The Company became aware that Mr. Lee, Mr. Lin and Ms. Wan were
unlawfully dismissed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer and in light of the
above, the Board resolved to, among other things, invalidate the resolutions
of Guangzhou Mayer in respect of the dismissal of Mr. Lee, Mr. Lin and Ms.
Wan as directors of Guangzhou Mayer, as well as the appointment of Mr.
Hao Qiang (“Mr. Hao"), Mr. He Peng (“Mr. He") and Mr. Liu Haiyang (“Mr.
Liu") as directors of Guangzhou Mayer.

Upon the investigation by the Company in mid-December 2021, it was found
out that, without the knowledge of the Board, Mr. Lee, Mr. Lin and Ms. Wan
were dismissed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer and Mr. Hao, Mr. He and
Mr. Liu were appointed as directors of Guangzhou Mayer at an extraordinary
general meeting of Guangzhou Mayer held on 24 November 2021 (the "GM
Shareholders’ Meeting").

As advised by the legal advisers of the Company in the PRC, in order to
give effect to the invalidation of the relevant resolutions passed at the GM
Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company should, via Bamian as Guangzhou
Mayer’s major shareholder, convene an extraordinary general meeting of
Guangzhou Mayer (the “"Guangzhou Mayer EGM") and pass resolutions
to remove and appoint directors of Guangzhou Mayer as it shall propose. On
29 January 2022, the Guangzhou Mayer EGM was held whereby it was legally
and validly resolved by Bamian that the new directors of Guangzhou Mayer
shall comprise Mr. Lee, Mr. Lin, Ms. Wan, Mr. Xiao Libo (an executive Director)
and Mr. Huang Fugen. As a result, Mr. Hao, Mr. He and Mr. Liu shall no longer
be directors of Guangzhou Mayer with effect from 29 January 2022.

Subsequent to the Board meeting held on 26 November 2021, it was resolved
by the Board on 29 March 2022 that a general management and control
committee (the "Committee”) shall be established by Guangzhou Mayer
in substitution of the risk management committee, asset management
committee, senior management nomination and remuneration committee,
and internal audit committee. The Committee shall report to the board
of directors of Guangzhou Mayer and provide advice on the management
(including risk management and asset management), senior management
nomination and remuneration, and internal audit aspects of Guangzhou
Mayer. The Committee was established in late April 2022 after the approval
by the board of directors of Guangzhou Mayer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Former Executive Director’s Allegations

Mr. Xu when resigning from the Company as the Chairman and an executive
Director on 3 December 2021 made certain allegations against the Company
and certain Directors, which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 6 April 2022. He alleged that, amongst others, after a substantial
shareholder of the Company (the “Substantial Shareholder”) had
acquired 460,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 24.04% of the
issued share capital of the Company, on 26 October 2021, those Directors
nominated by the Substantial Shareholder used various measures to attempt
to take control of the Board and ignored the facts and frequently convened
Board meetings in relation to a resolution which was voted down at the Board
meetings more than once to achieve their own goals.

Based on its findings, the Independent Investigator opines that the
appointment of the Directors nominated by the Substantial Shareholder were
valid and that it is reasonable to conclude that all the relevant resolutions of
the Board meetings concerned were passed in good faith and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole as the purpose of them was
to strengthen the corporate governance of Guangzhou Mayer.

The Company is currently seeking legal advice on such allegations and will
keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed
of any further material developments in connection therewith by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Former Non-Executive Director’s Allegations

Mr. Wang, when resigning from the Company as a NED on 11 January 2022,
made certain allegations against the Company and certain Directors, which
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 4 February 2022. He
alleged that, amongs others, the Board which was under the manipulation of
certain individuals passed a resolution through repeatedly convening Board
meetings and considering resolutions which were of the same content and
frequently proposed at various Board meetings.

Based on its findings, the Independent Investigator opines that it is reasonable
to conclude that Mr. Wang's allegations were not substantiated.

The details of the legal proceedings initiated by the Company against Mr.
Wang have been disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 10
and 20 January 2022, respectively.

The Company is still in the course of seeking legal advice on the allegations
made by Mr. Wang and initiating legal proceedings against him and will
keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed of
any further material developments in connection with the above by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 12 January, 4 February
and 6 April 2022, respectively for details.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

Impact of Resignations of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang to the Company

Prior to Mr. Xu's resignation as the Chairman and an executive Director, Mr.
Xu was responsible for providing leadership for the Board and the strategic
direction of the Company. Mr. Wang, prior to his resignation as a NED, was
collectively responsible for the Company’s management and operations
together with other Directors although he did not have any major role in the
daily operations of the Group.

Subsequent to the resignations of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang, while the remaining
Directors on the Board (with Mr. Lee being re-appointed as the Chairman
on 22 February 2022) have collectively been responsible for overseeing the
Group’s strategic planning and development, and determining the objectives,
strategies and policies of the Group, the main day-to-day operations of the
Group has been handled by the senior management of the Group, who
have in general over four years of working experience in the Group, and
are responsible for managing the financial matters and the operation of
other business departments, including production, quality control, sales and
technical departments. There has been no change in the senior management
of the Group and the operations of the Group remains stable. Based on the
above, the Board is of the view that the resignations of Mr. Xu and Mr. Wang
did not have any material impact to the Company's operations and financial
position.

Updates on Market Misconduct Tribunal’s Determination

By a notice dated 4 March 2016, the Company was notified by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong that it had commenced proceedings
in the Market Misconduct Tribunal (the "MMT") against (i) the Company
for failing to disclose price sensitive information as soon as reasonably
practicable; and (ii) certain former senior officers of the Company for their
reckless or negligent conduct causing the alleged breach by the Company of
the provisions of the statutory corporate disclosure regime. Hearings were
held on 1 November 2016 (on liability) and 15 March 2017 (on sanctions) (the
“MMT Proceedings”). The MMT issued two reports on 7 February 2017
and 5 April 2017, respectively (the "MMT’s Determination”), which (i)
found that the Company and each of those former senior officers (together,
the “Specified Persons”) were in breach of the disclosure requirements;
and (ii) imposed sanctions on each of the Specified Persons. Details of MMT's
Proceedings are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 14 March
2016, as well as 8 February and 6 April 2017.

Following an appeal against the MMT's Determination by the relevant
party(ies), the Court of Appeal on 5 June 2020 handed down its judgment
which set aside the determination of liability against the Specified Persons,
including the Company. However, the Court ordered the case to be remitted
to the MMT to consider the limited issue of whether the subject information
would be likely to materially affect the price taking into account the post-
suspension events.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The remitted hearing before the MMT was originally scheduled to be heard in
August 2021 but has been adjourned to dates to be fixed by the MMT. The
Company will keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company
informed of any further material developments in connection with the above
proceedings by way of announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

EMPLOYMENT, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had a total of 345 employees (31
December 2020: 355). Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments
for the Reporting Period were approximately RMB80,039,000 (Year 2020:
RMB44,265,000), including retirement benefits cost of approximately
RMB9,026,000 (Year 2020: RMB2,035,000). Remuneration packages of the
Group are maintained at a competitive level to attract, retain and motive
employees and are reviewed on a periodic basis. The Group always maintains
good relation with its employees and is committed to employee training and
development on a regular basis to maintain the quality of its products and
services.

The Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at
the AGM held on 31 May 2019. The Board considers that the Share Option
Scheme will incentivise more persons/entities to contribute positively to the
Group, and facilitate the retention and the recruitment of high-calibre staff of
the Group. Options have been granted to the Grantee during the Reporting
Period. Please refer to the “Environmental Technology Related Business” sub-
section under the “Business Review"” section above.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period and did not have
any significant investments held as at 30 June 2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no significant capital commitments outstanding at 30 June
2022 and 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. Key risks
and uncertainties affecting the Group are set out as below:

Global Economic and Macro-Economic Conditions

The impact of economic conditions on market price and customers’
confidence would affect the revenues and results of the Group. The economic
growth or decline in the Group’s geographical markets that affect customers’
demand would affect the Group’s business. The Group continues to
implement its strategies to develop and explore in different markets, thereby
reducing its dependency on specific markets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

Investment Risk

To balance risk and return across investment types is a key consideration
of investment framework. Risk assessment is one of important aspects of
the investment decision process. Management would regularly review and
monitor the progress of the investments of the Group and submit to the
Board for further strategic adjustments.

Customers’ Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group,which will cause a
financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties,
arises from the carrying amounts of the recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place to
determinate credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The
Group only extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of the
customers’ financial conditions and credit history. Credit sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of debts at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Liquidity Risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to
support the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Financial Risk

The Group's major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade and
other payables and bank borrowings. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules, regulations and codes. The Group engages
professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the latest developments
in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial, environmental and
operational developments. The Group also implements a strict control in
prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of confidential or inside
information.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

Steel pipes, steel sheets and other steel products

The central government of China has advocated domestic and international
complementary “dual circulation” economic development directions, in which
the domestic economic cycle plays a leading role. It has also introduced
favourable policies that benefit the development of the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area in which the Company operates. These
developments open the door to new strategic opportunities for economic
development and are good news for Guangzhou Mayer. In view of citizens'
hopes and aspirations for better life and the continuous rise in consumption
power in the country, many local governments in China are upgrading (from
PPR plastic water pipes to stainless steel ones) and overhauling their municipal
water supply systems. Citizens are also increasingly aware of the health
benefits of the use of stainless steel water pipes and the supply of better
water. These trends will bring the Group good development opportunities.
The Group will continue to seize such historic opportunities, stay abreast of
the time and foster the business of Guangzhou Mayer.

In respect of carbon steel products, the Group will further improve its
production yield rate, lower its production cost per unit and satisfy customers’
requirements through constant improvement in internal management. The
Group will also fully capitalise on its leadership position in the industry, brand
influence and geographical advantage to steadily develop new markets and
gradually increase its market share while consolidating the existing markets
of its products. With the missions to safeguard quality and help outstanding
enterprises achieve success, the Group will strive to establish the carbon steel
business as the most influential supporting and servicing brand for steel users
in the Greater Bay Area.

With respect to stainless steel products, the Group will focus on quality,
service and costs. It will continue to step up technological research and
modernise its production equipment. At the same time, employees’ skills
will be enhanced to safeguard product quality, after-sale services will
be strengthened to satisfy the customers, management will be trained
to be more cost-conscious, and cost control will be engraved in every
employee’s mind. Further, it is absolutely critical for the Group to expand the
international market of its stainless steel pipes while enlarging its share in the
domestic market at the same time. To take its export to the next level, the
Group will have to steadily enlarge its overseas markets such as Southeast
Asia. With the missions to make good pipes, distribute good water, improve
the quality of drinking water and provide competitive water supply solutions
and services to the customers, the Group's stainless steel business will strive
to bring stainless steel pipes to the Chinese households.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEwmR A

In view of the mounting pressure on the Group’s operations such as constant
market competition, the unending global pandemic, the trade disputes
between China and the United States, surging raw material prices, rising
labour costs and the vicious price competition adopted by some of the
Group's peers, the Group simply cannot afford to be complacent about its
advantages. Nevertheless, the management of the Group and, in particular,
Guangzhou Mayer have to meet such challenges by capturing every business
opportunity and enlarging the Group’s market share.

Due to trade frictions and disputes between China and the United States,
tariffs imposed on the steel products exported overseas will not be relaxed or
uplifted in the near future, which will reduce the Group’s overseas customers’
demand for carbon steel products, resulting in a decrease in orders for
Guangzhou Mayer's carbon steel products. If the situation persists, it will
adversely affect the Group's business and sales. In response to the trade war
between China and the United States, the Group will continue to increase the
domestic sales of carbon steel products to offset the reduction of sales caused
by the decrease in export orders. In terms of product sales categories, the
Group will increase efforts to promote stainless steel products, and actively
develop customers for domestic stainless steel pipes to expand sales channels
and sales of stainless steel products.

The Group’s management unanimously believes that by utilising the Group's
extensive experience in project study, market analysis and investigation,
product research, development and sales, customer development and
services, production operation as well as cost control, the Group will be able
to maintain and expand its customer base and market share, enhance the
competitiveness and added value of its products, obtain the best economic
benefits and maximise value for its investors.

Urban renewal project planning and consulting

With extensive knowledge of the real estate markets in the Greater Bay Area
and Zhuhai City, project companies of the Group have conducted in-depth
researches into their subject land lots. With such knowledge and researches,
the Group will select and develop more land lots with strategic value in
these regions while actively identifying more projects that require consulting
services with the aim of fostering the Group’s business in these markets.

The Group will also continue to design its projects and coordinate their
reporting and development while closely following the promulgation of rules
and measures in relation to the “Three Olds” redevelopment policy so as to
expedite the application, approval and other preliminary internal and external
procedures of its projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS

In the first half of 2022, the successive outbreaks of COVID-19 in different
cities, including Shanghai, Suzhou, Wuxi and Changzhou and especially
Shanghai cast tremendous adverse effect on the economy of China. China's
gross domestic product (GDP) grew merely 2.5% during that period, lower
than expected. In the current period and the rest of the second half of 2022,
there will still be certain instabilities and uncertainties caused by the complex
and volatile international and domestic macro-economical environment.
However, the Chinese government has been proactively launching policies
to boost China’s economy which is expected to pick up gradually. Therefore,
there would be opportunities for the steel industry and the Group is
prudently optimistic that Guangzhou Mayer’s management could surmount
all difficulties, realise sustainable development and make precise efforts to
ensure the implementation of annual indicators.
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion

HRBERZEIE ik

PRELIMINARY RESPONSES TO QUALIFIED OPINION
The Board and the Audit Committee had noted that the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Reporting Period were subject to the
qualified opinion of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the Independent Auditor
(the "Qualified Opinion”), on the basis as set out in the section headed
“Basis for Qualified Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
76 to 79 of this Report.

The Board and the Audit Committee did not express different views from
that of the Independent Auditor on the basis of the qualifications as the
unresolved qualifications for the Reporting Period, which might have
consequential effect on the Group's financial performance for the Reporting
Period and the related disclosure thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

Further, the views of the Group towards the issues are as follows:

1. Interest in an associate
Details of, amongst others, the recent progress of the urban land
redevelopment projects in Zhuhai are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 14 March 2022 and the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section of this Report (the “MD&A")

2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Details of, amongst others, the development of the Supplemental
Agreement, the preparation of a circular to be despatched to the
Shareholders for the convening of the EGM are set out in the Company'’s
announcements dated 14 March, 1 and 29 April, 1 June as well as 14
and 29 July, 2022, respectively and the MD&A.

3. Prepayments and trade receivables
The Group will continue to discuss the prepayments and trade receivables
with the service providers pursuant to, amongst others, the progress
of the urban land redevelopment projects in Zhuhai and their mutual
business relationship.

4. Consolidation of Hei Jing Photoelectric Technology Co.,
Limited (“Hei Jing")
The Group is taking a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume
the ownership of its 51% equity interest in Hei Jing and may consider
taking appropriate further actions with professional advice in due course.
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Responses to/Removal of Qualified Opinion

FURTHER INFORMATION

Shortly after the Company had made its responses to the Qualified Opinion
in its preliminary announcement regarding the audited consolidated results
of the Group for the Reporting Period on 29 September 2022, the Stock
Exchange requested in writing the Company to provide, and the Company
provides, the following information in this Report below:

Update on the Property Development Projects of the Target
Company (the “Projects”)

The Company has been evaluating and monitoring the progress of the
Projects, namely the re-development project of Yuetang Village and other
property redevelopment projects, which are situated in Zhuhai City in
the PRC. However, since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic (the
“"Pandemic”), the Zhuhai City government has been implementing strict
preventive and containment measures, as well as lockdown and other policies
relating to the restrictions of people flow, which have constricted general
economic activities within the local and surrounding areas and consequently,
affected and stagnated the property development industry and the operating
environment in Zhuhai City (the “Industry”) as a whole. The construction
timetable of each of the Projects has been temporarily stalled and delayed
due to (i) delay in the supply of construction materials; (ii) labour shortage as
a result of the abovementioned restriction and containment measures; and
(iii) increased difficulties and/or hesitation for potential buyers to perform
site-visits during the Pandemic and the negative impact brought to the
general economy of Zhuhai City, which have affected the property purchasing
momentum.

Given the circumstance as a result of the Pandemic, the Directors are not
certain of the recovery time of the Industry but have been closely monitoring
and assessing the status of the Projects. In attempting to evaluate the
future prospect of the Projects, the Company has engaged an independent
professional property valuer (the “Valuer”) to appraise and assess the
estimated turnaround time of the Industry in order to formulate the plan to
resume the Projects.
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Taking into account (i) the loosen-up of tightening policies relating to the
Industry as imposed by the PRC government; (ii) the stabilised demand of
the residential buildings in Zhuhai City as driven by inelastic demand and
purchasers’ expectation of the recovery of Industry; and (iii) the loosen-up
of restriction and regulatory policies in relation to the Pandemic, which is
expected to increase the market confidence in respect of the Industry and
attract potential purchasers of residential buildings, the Valuer is of the view
that the Industry is reckoned to recover steadily and gradually return to pre-
epidemic level not later than the second half of 2023, subject to future
development of the Pandemic, as well as the macroeconomic and political
environment around the world.

Actions considered by the Company towards the Projects

In addition to the above arrangement, the Company has also considered the
feasibility of exercising of the option granted by the Vendor to the Purchaser
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement in respect of the sale and transfer of
the entire issued share capital of the Target Company (the “"Put Option”)
and taking legal action towards the Vendor and the Guarantor in case that
they were not able to fulfill their obligations under the Put Option. However,
having considered that (i) the Vendor and the Guarantor have expressed
to the Company that they do not have the financial capacity to fulfill their
obligations in a timely manner assuming that the Company exercises the Put
Option; and (ii) should any legal actions be taken against the Vendor and
the Guarantor, the Company upon going through lengthy legal procedures
would only be able to receive cash compensation which may not be sufficient
to cover the Company’s initial investment costs in the Projects, the Directors
consider that the exercise of the Put Option and the taking of any legal
actions against the Vendor and the Guarantor by the Group are not in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

In relation to the realisation of investment in the Projects, the Directors have
made reference to the Valuer's opinion on the estimated recovery time of the
Industry of being not later than the second half of 2023. Given the condition
of the Industry, having considered (i) the potential gain from the Projects; (ii)
the signs of recovery from the Pandemic in the PRC; and (iii) the Company’s
commitment and capital investment in the Projects and that the Company
may be able to recover its initial investment costs and to harvest the gain
generated by the Projects upon the recovery of the Industry, the Directors
have come into the conclusion that it is in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole not to realize its investment in the Projects at this
very moment.
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Given the situation, the Company currently intends to enter into a further
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement I1”) with the
Vendor to (i) further extend the New Target Period up to 31 December 2024
by making reference to the Valuer's estimation on the recovery timeline of
the Industry; and (ii) revise the calculation formula regarding the fulfillment
of the Target Profit Level under the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement in the following manner:

“For the purpose of the calculation of the Accumulated Net Profit, the
Company will only base on the net profit after tax recorded in the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Target Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Target Group") for the three years ended 31 December 2019, 2020
and 2021 (subject to the Supplemental Agreement, the New Target Period
was extended for 18 months to 30 June 2023) prepared in accordance with
the HKFRS (the “Net Profit After Tax”).”

The major asset of the Target Company is a 49% equity interest in the
Project Company which is accounted for as an associate of the Target Group.
Under the equity method, the Target Group shares the results of the Project
Company and such accounting treatment does not account for any gain in
the fair value of the Project Company unless the equity interest is wholly or
partly disposed of.

The Directors consider to change the calculation method to reflect the
unrealised profit on the Project Company as follows:

Accumulated Net Profit = Net Profit After Tax + Unrealised Profit on the
Project Company*

e Unrealised Profit on the Project Company represents the difference between the fair
value of the Project Company as at 30 June 2023 and the carrying amount of the
interest in an associate in the books of the Target Company.

As at the date of this Report, the Company is still in negotiations with the
Vendor and the Guarantor to formulate a detailed and achievable action plan
and timetable of the Projects and to finalise the terms and conditions under
the Supplemental Agreement Il. Further material development in this regard
will be announced by the Company as and when appropriate.
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Removal of Qualified Opinion

Regarding the Qualified Opinion, the Auditor has indicated its preliminary
view to the Board that upon the recovery of the Industry and the resumption
of development of the Projects so as to allow the Company to (a) reliably
measure the value-in-use of the Company’s interest in the Project Company;
and (b) assess the future economic benefit to be generated from the Projects
such that the prepayments and trade receivables relating to the Projects can
be recovered, items (i) and (iii) of the Qualified Opinion will be removed and
will no longer be required.

In respect of item (ii) of the Qualified Opinion, after (a) the procedures of
the Shareholders (other than the Vendor, the Guarantor and its associates)
who are not interested in the Supplemental Agreement and are not required
under the Listing Rules to abstain from voting at the EGM to approve the
Supplemental Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder for
approving the same have been completed; (b) the recovery of the Industry;
and (c) the resumption of development of the Projects, the Company will
be able to reliably measure the fair value of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss in respect of the guarantee provided by the Vendor
and the Guarantor and the Put Option, and hence, item (ii) of the Qualified
Opinion will be removed and will no longer be required.

In respect of item (iv) of the Qualified Opinion, the Group has instigated
a legal action to resume the ownership of the 51% equity interest in Hei
Jing and is currently awaiting the date of the hearing (the “Hearing”) to
be scheduled by the court. The Auditor has indicated to the Company that
depending on the outcome of the Hearing, it will ascertain as to whether
the financial statements of Hei Jing should be consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements, and item (iv) of the Qualified Opinion will
then be removed and will no longer be required.

In light of the above, the Board and the Audit Committee are of the view that
the abovementioned plans are feasible and sufficient to address the Qualified
Opinion.
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EEERERS

The Board and the management are committed to maintaining and ensuring R RBIF X E ARG HEEDRKRERE
high standards of corporate governance as good corporate governance can IRH ¥ BE BETK éfﬁlﬁ%u?’ﬁhiﬁﬁﬁ
safequard the interests of all Shareholders and enhance corporate value. The BSKFZhEEAR - BEET—EAFBETITIRS
Board continuously reviews and improves the corporate governance practices ANEBZCEBELAERKNIEE BREKEER
and standards of the Group from time to time to ensure that business JRERBREBIEZZHRE-

activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper manner.

The Company has applied the principles in, and complied with the code RIREH > AATNEERBKRETEETE T
provisions of, the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period except for &3 MREEDESTRIMN T5) & BT BESTRIN >
the deviation from each of the following code provisions of the CG Code  =¥IBsRBEUNT ©

explained below.

Code provision

SFRIE X

Reason for the non-compliance and
improvement actions taken or to be taken

BFZRARBRNHAFRNZBETH

C.1.8
Insurance cover

R RIE

c.2.1
Separate roles of chairman
and chief executive

FTEETHESENACED

As it took time for the Company to solicit a suitable insurer with an insurance plan at reasonable
commercial terms and conditions, the Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors for the period from 1 January 2021 to 27 September 2021. A
directors and officers liability insurance policy was taken out by the Company with effect from 28
September 2021.

Eﬁfﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁiﬁi B’M? BT UEEZBEHERREHREREE BIL > 727K
s = TENATTtHABYERHEES AR THRHFABEZRE

T?FEL’ZK/ATE\_v_—EnH TNBRE—MESFhSRBESERFRE-

Mr. Xu Lidi (“Mr. Xu"), an Executive Director, ceased to act as the CEO when he was appointed as
the Chairman with effect from 12 March 2021.
ERTESHRUMEE (REE) R S - F=-FB+_HEZTAETEREETBIER -

The Company did not appoint a CEO as the role and function of the CEO were performed by all the
Executive Directors collectively. While continuously assessing whether any changes were necessary,
the Board believed that the then arrangement enabled the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly, and thus, achieved the Company’s objectives effectively and efficiently in
response to the changing environment.
EEIEAﬁBZ ARz ACKRBEHERIITESTLR KL E&ZIS@TIM*EHBZ%%t BEESER
BT L2 %ET’FHﬂE&Zﬁ“’TE§$6$E1 P BN L HEAA BRI BITAE > 8 0] F A8 B
%%&‘*Zfaiﬁﬁxﬁl RERAABZBR.

Mr. Xiao Libo, an Executive Director, was appointed as the CEO with effect from 26 November 2021.
The role and function of the Chairman and the CEO had been performed by two separate individuals
since that date.

HITESHIRAER S —F+— BT+ HEZEATHER - BZ B MUK EFERITHE
BNABKRBAED A BMS A LRS-

Mr. Xu resigned as the Chairman and an Executive Director with effect from 3 December 2021.
The roles and functions of the Chairman were resumed for performance by all the then Executive
Directors.
BEEE R+ _ACHEREEIREARTES - TENAGCKHBERERERNTESRE
BAEIE o

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, an Executive Director, was re-appointed as the Chairman with effect from 22
February, 2022. The roles and functions of the Chairman and the CEO have been performed by two
separate individuals since that date.
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Code provision

Reason for the non-compliance and
improvement actions taken or to be taken

SFRIME FEFTZREEAREEDNHE FRRZBETH
A.5.1 On 28 February 2021, Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping (“Mr. Cheng”), the then Chairman, an Executive

(in force immediately
before 1 January 2022)
Chairman of nomination

committee

(BE_E2E__F—F—HA
) IRBEERERE

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
has met all code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the Reporting

Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's strategic planning and
development, as well as determining the objectives, strategies and policies
of the Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full

Director and the then chairman of the Nomination Committee, passed away. On 2 March 2021, Mr.
Xu, who was an Executive Director and the CEO, was appointed as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, which deviated from code provision A.5.1 (which required the Nomination Committee to
be chaired by the Chairman or an INED). On 12 March 2021, Mr. Xu was appointed as the Chairman
and accordingly, the Company has fulfilled the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. With effect
from 3 December 2021, Mr. Xu resigned as the Chairman and an Executive Director and ceased as
the chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee. Hence, the Nomination Committee had
two members without a chairman, which did not meet the composition requirement under code
provision A.5.1. On 22 December, 2021, Mr. Chan Chun Kit, an INED, was appointed as the chairman
of the Nomination Committee and the Nomination Committee has comprised three members with
one of them being the chairman. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the composition
requirement under code provision A.5.1.

BEXIR HITEERELZEIRIEIEBWMEKEE BEE) N2 - —F "B -+ /\H#
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AR SCEB AL MR T RVAR AU AR E o
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EXg

EFCTEEREFAEEZRBRIRER UK
FIEFAEEZBR RBEAHER AREZKEEE
BEAEEZABEE I/ MPAKEFENE
RENEBRAZEZEESF IRFREFTTE

and active contribution to the Board's affairs and ensure that the Board acts R&EAATRKREEE BEFN -
in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Composition 4%

REREAH ESEERBANRESHEMN 81

As at the date of this Report, the Board currently comprises nine Directors,
including Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (Chairman), Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, Mr. Chen
Zhirui, Mr. Xiao Libo (CEO) and Dr. Cheung Ka Yue as Executive Directors,
Mr. Lam Chung Chak as a NED and Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, Mr. Chan Chun
Kit and Mr. Lu Jianping as INEDs. At least one of the three INEDs possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise, which complies with the requirement under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. Details of their respective experiences, background and
qualifications are included in the “Biographical Information of Directors and
Senior Management” section on pages 57 to 60 of this Report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 28 March 2019, which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. The Company recognizes that increasing diversity at the Board
level will support the attainment of the Company's strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board has delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity Policy to the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will discuss and adopt
the above measurements when it reviews the composition of the Board.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the
Company’s business, the Nomination Committee considered that the existing
Board is suitably qualified with professional backgrounds and/or equipped
with extensive expertise for the purposes of providing direction to and
oversight of the Group’s strategy and business in achieving its objectives.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy at least
annually or in necessary condition, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness from time to time.

Independence and Relationship

The INEDs ensure that the Board accounts for the interests of all Shareholders
and all issues are considered in an objective manner. The Company has
received annual confirmation from each of the INEDs as regards their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these
confirmations, the Board considers that all of them to be independent.

Mr. Lam Chung Chak, a NED, is a son of Ms. Wong Shek Kwan, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Except as disclosed above, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among the members of the Board. All of them
are free to exercise their individual judgment.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Reporting Period, the roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the
Company were held separately by different individuals to ensure a clear
division between their responsibilities and independence. The separation
ensures a balance of power and authority so that power is not concentrated
in any one individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running of the
Board and ensures that all material issues are decided by the Board in a
conductive manner and effectively implements the strategies of the Group.
The CEO not only shares the responsibility of running the Group’s business
and effectively implements the strategies of the Group, but also leads and
monitors the daily operation of the Group's business with other Executive
Directors.

During the period from 1 January to 14 March 2021, Mr. Lee Kwok Leung
("Mr. Lee”) was the Chairman. With effective from 15 January 2021, Mr. Lee
resigned as the Chairman and remained as an Executive Director, and the late
Mr. Cheng was appointed as the Chairman and re-designated as an Executive
Director. With effect from 12 March 2021,
Chairman and ceased as the CEO following the passing away of Mr. Cheng
on 28 February 2021. Mr. Xu resigned as the Chairman and an Executive
Director on 3 December 2021,

Mr. Xu Lidi was appointed as the

Mr. Xiao Libo, appointed as an Executive
Director on 9 November 2021, was appointed as the CEO on 26 November

2021. Mr. Lee was re-appointed as the Chairman on 22 February 2022.

There is no relationship between the Chairman and the CEO.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (“CPD")

All Directors newly appointed in 2021 and the first quarter of 2022 received
an induction training in respect of directors’ responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and other applicable rules and regulations delivered by the Company’s
legal advisers of Hong Kong Laws or the Company Secretary (as the case may
be).

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses to ensure that they are fully aware of
the responsibilities and obligations of directors under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.
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All Directors have participated in CPD, by reading articles, training materials
and updates as regards legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance
to the Directors in the discharge of their duties. All Directors have provided
confirmations of training they received for the Reporting Period to the
Company. The Company has also continuously updated Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

During the regular Board meeting held in June 2022, the Company Secretary
briefed the Directors on the amendments to the code provisions of the CG
Code and the associated Listing Rules, most of which have been applicable to
the Company since 1 January or 1 July 2022.

The individual training record of each of the current Directors received for
the Reporting Period or for the period from the respective effective dates of
their appointment as Directors to 30 June 2022 (as the case may be) is set out
below:
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Attending training courses/seminars/

webinars/conferences and reading materials

on topics relating to directors’ duties,
corporate governance and
the Listing Rules, etc
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Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FEBRKE
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao Bt sEE
Mr. Chen Zhirui REESE
Mr. Xiao Libo HiREE
Dr. Cheung Ka Yue REREL
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Lam Chung Chak MRELE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFERITES
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung DI E g E
Mr. Chan Chun Kit PR R 1 T &
Mr. Lu Jianping BEETRE
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BOARD MEETINGS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
During the Reporting Period, the Directors passed certain resolutions in
writing and the Board held 28 meetings to discuss, among other matters,
the Group’s affairs, investment projects and the operational and financial
performance of the Group. Notice of Board meetings was given to all
directors fourteen days before each regular Board meeting. All Directors have
an opportunity through an official channel to raise matters for discussion
in the agenda. An agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent to all
directors at least three days before regular Board meetings. The Company
held its AGM on 28 May 2021. The attendance record of the Directors to
these Board meetings is set out in the below section headed "Attendance
Records at Meetings”.

During the Reporting Period, the Chairman held one meeting with the INEDs
without the presence of other executive Directors.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for
each Board meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. The Company Secretary also keeps detailed minutes of each
meeting, which are available to all the Directors for inspection. Drafts of
Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for their comments and approved
as soon as practicable after the Board meetings.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to seek advice and service of the
Company Secretary who is responsible for providing the Directors with Board
papers and related materials and ensuring that appropriate and applicable
procedures are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial Shareholder or
Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolutions. INEDs with no conflict of interest
would be present at a meeting dealing with conflict issues. Board committees
of the Company, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all follow the applicable practices
and procedures used in Board meetings for committee meetings.

DIRECTORS’' TERM OF APPOINTMENTS AND
RE-ELECTION

In accordance to article 112 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM one-
third of the Director for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and
shall be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall retire from
office by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Zhou Shi
Hao, Mr. Chen Zhirui and Mr. Lau Kwok Hung shall retire by rotation. All the
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming 2022 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by Directors. Having been made specific enquiries by
the Company, all the existing Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
Reporting Period or for the period from the respective effective dates of their
appointment as Directors to 30 June 2022 (as the case may be).

DIRECTORS’ AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance and prospects. It is also responsible for
preparing financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group's
financial position on a going concern basis and other inside information
announcements and financial disclosures. Management provides the Board
with the relevant information it needs to discharge these responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the independent auditor to the Shareholders are set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 76 to 82.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 22 August 2005 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are available on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board; identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorship; making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors; and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing such policy.

Nomination Policy and Procedures

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of the Directors to the Nomination Committee. Without
prejudice to the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee as set
out in its terms of reference, the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of the Directors rests with the entire Board.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the selection, RZLZEGRREBEUTEFERAEREE T
appointment and re-appointment of a Director, including an INED in REHEZFTEE BEBIFENTES) OEST
accordance with the following procedures and process: REEZ !

A. The Nomination Committee: A RBEEE

will, giving due consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

ii. may consult any source it considers appropriate in identifying ii.

or selecting suitable candidates such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertising, recommendations from a third party agency
firm and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest (details of the Board
Diversity Policy is set out on page 39 of this Report);

(c) Qualifications, both academic and professional, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Group’s business is involved;

(d) Independence (for the INEDs);

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board;

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board; and

(h) Provisions of the Listing Rules.
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iii. may adopt any process it considers appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;

iv. will consider a broad range of candidates who are in and outside of
the Board’s circle of contacts;

v. upon considering a candidate’s suitability for the directorship, will
hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if thought
fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

vi. will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate to
the Remuneration Committee for consideration of the remuneration
package of such selected candidate; and

vii. will thereafter make the recommendation to the Board in relation to
the proposed appointment.

Where a NED (including an INED) is considered, the Remuneration
Committee will make the recommendation to the Board on the policy
and structure for the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by
the members of the Board, who are not members of the Nomination
Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be;

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director (as the case may be) to be filed) with the
relevant regulatory authorities, if required; and

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at the following general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.
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Composition
The changes in the composition of the Nomination Committee during the
Reporting Period were as follows:

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Chairman) (appointed on 22.12.2021)

Mr. Lu Jianping (appointed on 28.02.2022)
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (resigned as Chairman and a member on 15.01.2021)

Late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping (appointed as Chairman on 15.01.2021 and
passed away on 28.02.2021)
Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen (ceased to act on 18.11.2021)

Mr. Xu Lidi (appointed as a member on 15.01.2021 and
as Chairman on 02.03.2021 and ceased to act
as Chairman and member on 03.12.2021)

Dr. Li Yutong (appointed on 15.01.2021 and
removed on 22.12.2021)

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (appointed on 22.12.2021 and
ceased to act on 28.02.2022)

As at the date of this Report, the Nomination Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Chun Kit (as the chairman of the committee), Mr. Lau
Kwok Hung and Mr. Lu Jianping.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a year and
when required. For the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee passed
certain resolutions in writing and held six meetings, mainly to review the
composition of the Board and the retirement and re-election of Directors, to
assess the independence of INEDs and to make recommendation to the Board
on the nomination of new Director candidates during the Reporting Period.

On 29 September 2022, the Nomination Committee met to perform certain
of its functions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 August 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are
available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and recommending to the
Board the annual remuneration policy of the Directors and members of senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach made
under E.1.2(c)(i) of the CG code to determine, with delegated responsibility
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.
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Composition
The changes in the composition of the Remuneration Committee during the
Reporting Period were as follows:

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Chairman) (appointed as member on 22.12.2021 and
appointed as Chairman on 28.02.2022)

Mr. Lu Jianping (appointed on 28.02.2022)

Late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping (appointed on 15.01.2021 and
passed away on 28.02.2021)

Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen (ceased to act on 18.11.2021)

Dr. Li Yutong (appointed as Chairman on 15.01.2021 and
removed as Chairman and member on 22.12.2021)

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (appointed as Chairman on 22.12.2021 and
ceased to act as Chairman and member on 28.02.2022)

As at the date of this Report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Chun Kit (as the chairman of the committee), Mr. Lau
Kwok Hung and Mr. Lu Jianping.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.
For the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held six meetings,
mainly to review the existing policy and structure of the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management, and make recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration of proposed Directors appointed during the Reporting
Period.

On 29 September 2022, the Remuneration Committee met to perform certain
of its functions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code, which are available on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Responsibilities

It is primarily responsible for reviewing the Group’s relationship with auditors,
financial reporting, risk management, internal controls and corporate
governance as well as making relevant recommendations to the Board.

Composition
The changes in the composition of the Audit Committee during the Reporting
Period were as follows:

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (appointed on 22.12.2021)

Mr. Lu Jianping (appointed on 28.02.2022)
Late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping (ceased to act on 15.01.2021)
Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen (ceased to act on 18.11.2021)

Dr. Li Yutong (appointed on 15.01.2021 and removed on 22.12.2021)

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (appointed on 22.12.2021 and
ceased to act on 28.02.2022)

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, Mr. Lau Kwok Hung (as
the chairman of the committee), Mr. Chan Chun Kit and Mr. Lu Jianping.

Summary of Work Done

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held at least twice a year and
as and when required. During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee
held four meetings, mainly to discuss audit planning in respect of the audit
of the financial statements, to review the annual results and the interim
results of the Group, to review the internal control system and to make
recommendation to the Board of the appointment of independent auditor.

On 29 September 2022, the Audit Committee met to perform certain of its
functions.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance of individual Directors at general meetings, meetings of
the Board and meetings of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee held during the Reporting Period is set
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out below:
Nomination Remuneration Audit
Board 2021 2022 Committee Committee Committee
Meetings AGM EGM meetings meetings meetings
ZEZ-F k-t - R&LZEE FEzEE BRZEE
ESg8E RREFEAXT RREIKE g g3 g
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FEREE 27/28 1/1 1/1 1/1 N/A FiEFH N/A B
(Chairman) (Note 1) (#/E) (k1)
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BtREE 21128 11 11 N/A R N/A R N/A R
Mr. Chen Zhirui BEERE 16/28 0N 0N N/A R N/A R N/A R
Mr. Xiao Libo (Note 2) HIDREE (M3E2) 18/22 N/A R 11 N/A R N/A R N/A R
Dr. Cheung Ka Yue (Note 3)  REREL (H:3) 22122 N/A R 11 N/A R N/A R R N/A R
Late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping BEALE BH) 171 N/A R N/A R 1/1 17 N/A R
(Note 4) (Fz4)
Mr. Xu Lidi (Note 5) s (Hss) 713 11 N/A R 112 N/A R R N/A R
Non-executive Directors JFHTEE
Mr. Lam Chung Chak (Note 6) #2254 (Hi3E6) 1118 N/A R 11 N/A R N/A R R N/A R
Mr. Wang Dongqi (Note 7) ~ ERE&KE (M3t7) 913 11 N/A R N/A R N/A R R N/A R
Ms. Cheng Bo Kei Peggy WMEML T (:28) 8/13 N/A R N/A R N/A R N/A R R N/A R
(Note 8)
Independent Non- BUFRTES
executive Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung SIEELE 27128 11 11 6/6 6/6 4/4
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Note 9)  BRIR{E 54 (Fi5E9) 22122 N/A R B 1/1 33 33 22
Mr. Lu Jianping (Note 10)  BEEEF&4 (M3E10) 6/6 N/A R 11 11 N/A R R N/A R
Mr. Cheung, Fddie Ho Kuen SR E4E (MzE11) 6/8 11 N/A R 33 313 22
(Note 11)
Dr. Li Yutong (Note 12) FRiAEL (EE12) 5/24 0/1 N/A R 112 12 22
Mr. Wong Chi Kin (Note 13) ZHERE4E (M513) 14115 N/A R F N/A R 11 12 0/1
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Notes:
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Mr. Lee Kwok Leung resigned as the Chairman and remained as an executive
Director on 15 January 2021. With effect from the same date, he also resigned as
the chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Lee Kwok Leung
was re-appointed as the Chairman on 22 February 2022.

Mr. Xiao Libo was appointed as an Executive Director on 9 November 2021 and as
the CEO on 25 November 2021.

Dr. Cheung Ka Yue was appointed as an INED on 9 November 2021, re-designated
as a NED on 30 November 2021 and further re-designated as an Executive Director
on 26 April 2022.

The late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping was appointed as an INED, a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 21 January 2020. On 15 January 2021,
designated as an Executive Director and appointed as the Chairman and the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. With effect from the same date, he
resigned as chairman and a member of the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping passed away on 28 February
2021 and ceased to be the Chairman and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from the same date.

he was re-

Mr. Xu Lidi was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 15
January 2021. Mr. Xu Lidi has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee on 2 March 2021 to fill up the vacancy following the passing away of
Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping. Mr. Xu Lidi was appointed as the Chairman and ceased as
the CEO on 12 March 2021. His Director’s duties were suspended by the Board
with effect from 2 December 2021. He resigned as the Chairman and an Executive
Director on 3 December 2021 and ceased to act as the chairman and a member of
the Nomination Committee with effect from the same date.

Mr. Lam Chung Chak was appointed as a NED on 25 November 2021.

The Director’s duties of Mr. Wang Dongqi had been suspended by the Board with
effect from 2 December 2021 and he was not given any notice of Board meetings
thereafter. He resigned as a NED on 11 January 2022.

Ms. Cheng Po Kei Peggy was appointed as a NED on 25 November 2021 and
resigned on 10 March 2022.

Mr. Chan Chun Kit was appointed as an INED as well as a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and the chairman of the
Nomination Committee on 9 November 2021. He was further appointed as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 28 February 2022.

Mr. Lu Jianping was appointed as an INED and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 28
February 2022.

Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen resigned as an INED on 18 November 2021 and ceased
to act as a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee with effect from the same date.
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12. Dr. Li Yutong was appointed as an INED on 15 January 2021. With effect from the
same date, he was also appointed as a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee, and the chairman of Remuneration Committee.
He was removed as a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee as well as the Chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, all on 22 December 2021. He was then removed as an INED on 23
March 2022.

13. Mr. Wong Chi Kin was appointed as an INED on 9 November 2021 and a member
of the Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 22 December 2021. He resigned as
an INED on 28 February 2022 and ceased as a member of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and the chairman and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from the same date.

14. The attendances of each of the current and former Directors above were stated by
reference to the number of meetings held during his/her tenure.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Company’s independent external auditor is ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited. The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment
of the external auditor and also reviews any non-audit functions performed
by the external auditor for the Group. In particular, the Audit Committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for and performed, whether
such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. The remuneration for the services in respect of the Reporting Period
provided by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited amounted to as follows:
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Statutory audit services

Non-audit services (including review of

FFRBIRE (BEERTHER

RMB897,000/HK$ 1,080,000
AR %897,00075,/1,080,0007 7T
RMB523,000/HK$630,000

interim results, risk management, EpEIE AEPEEIEURK A #523,0007T630,0007 7T
internal control and ESG consultancy services) ESGHB AR T)
Total w5t RMB1,420,000/HK$ 1,710,000

AE#%1,420,00075,1,710,00058 7T

DIRECTOR’'S REMUNERATION

The emoluments payable to Directors and senior management will depend on
the contractual terms under the respective letters of appointment or service
contracts and are fixed by (a) the Board by reference to the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee (in case of Non-Executive Directors) or
(b) the Remuneration Committee (in case of Executive Directors), both by
reference to, amongst others, their duties and responsibilities within the
Company as well as their qualifications and experience. No Director can be
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors for the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this Report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 28 March 2019. Pursuant to
the policy, the Company should maintain adequate cash reserves to satisfy
its working capital requirements and future growth as well as its share
value in recommending or declaring dividends. The Company does not have
any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The proposal of payment
and the amount of dividends will be made at the discretion of the Board
and will depend on the Group’s results of operations, earnings, financial
condition, cash requirements and availability, future capital expenditure and
development requirements, business conditions and strategies, interests of
the Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant. The Board will review the
dividend policy as appropriate from time to time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the corporate governance duties as set out below to
the Audit Committee:

(a) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Company and the
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and reviewing its effectiveness. The Board requires management
to establish and maintain sound and effective system of internal controls to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. A review of
risk management and internal control system of the Group is made at least
annually, covering the material financial, operational and compliance controls.
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Risk Management

A risk register with risk rating and risk owners were compiled by taking into
account for continuous risk assessment purpose. Risk owners are required
to take mitigating actions to address the identified risks and such actions
are integrated in the day-to-day activities and their effectiveness is closely
monitored. During the Reporting Period, the risk register has been circulated
for discussion and assessed the ratings by key personnel and management, by
considering the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. A written risks
assessment report with the identified key risks, evaluation of related risks and
relevant mitigating actions have been reported to the Audit Committee and
reviewed by the Board. The written report facilitates the Board in considering
the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, the Group's ability
in responding to changes in its business and the external environment, as
well as management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control
system.

Internal Control

The Group emphasises the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures.
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to protection of material assets and Shareholders’
interests. For any identified internal control weaknesses or defects, the
Group is committed to enhancing control measures to rectify such control
weaknesses or defects.

The Group has implemented an effective control system which includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, a sound management
system and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit
Committee and the Board.

Internal Audit Function

The Group does not have a formal internal audit function but retains an
independent professional risk management and internal control consultant to
conduct the risk management and internal control review annually.

Review of the Effectiveness of the Risk Management and
Internal Control System

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an annual review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the Reporting Period by considering written reports prepared
by an independent professional risk management and internal control
consultant, covering the material financial, operational and compliance
controls, which are considered effective and adequate. The Audit Committee
has annually reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience, training and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the Shares or their trading volume and
decides whether the relevant information is considered inside information
and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to
Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. Executive Directors have responsibility
for approving certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the
Company under the powers delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market
to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination
of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the
relevant information on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has been engaging an external professional company secretarial
services provider to provide regulatory compliance and a range of company
secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group to cope with the
changing regulatory environment.

Mr. Lam Man Kit (“Mr. Lam") acted as the named Company Secretary for
the period from 1 January 2021 to 6 January 2022. In compliance with the
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Lam has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the above period.

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, the late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping and Mr. Xu Lidi, the
Chairman and an executive Director were the respective primary corporate
contact persons at the Company in respect of company secretarial matters for
Mr. Lam during the above period.

Since 7 January 2022, SK2 Corporate Services (HK) Ltd. (“SK2") has been
providing corporate secretarial services to the Company and Sir Kwok Siu Man
KR (“Sir Seaman Kwok") has been nominated by SK2 to be the Company
Secretary with effect from the same date. The primary person at the Company
with whom Sir Seaman Kwok contacted in respect of the company secretarial
matters since then has been Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, the Chairman and an
Executive Director. Sir Seaman Kwok delivered and attended relevant CPD
training during the period from 7 January 2022 to 30 June 2022 pursuant to
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association as adopted by a special resolution passed at the
general meeting held on 24 May 2004 is available at the respective websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. No further changes have been
made to the Company’s Articles of Association during the Reporting Period.

In order to bring the Memorandum and the Articles of Association in line
with the latest legal and regulatory requirements under the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules (including the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, which have
become effective from 1 January 2022) and make some other housekeeping
improvements, the Board has proposed to make certain amendments to
its existing Memorandum and Articles of Association and adopt the new
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The above proposals will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders by
way of a special resolution at the 2022 AGM and shall take effect upon the
close of the 2022 AGM if so approved.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EGM

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association, any two or more
Members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right,
by written requisition and deposited at the head office and principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong, presently located at 21st Floor,
No.88 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong (or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office) to require EGM(s)
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and if the Board does not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting(s) to
be held within a further twenty-one days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or
any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene such meeting(s) in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that those meeting(s) may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting(s) so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDER'S MEETING

Shareholders wishing to putting forward proposals for discussion at general
meeting should follow the procedures set out in the “Shareholders to

Convene an EGM” just above.

PROCEDURES FOR NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS FOR
ELECTION

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
are available and accessible on the Company’s website.
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PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail at the Company's head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong, presently at 21st Floor,
No. 88 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company Secretary is
responsible for forwarding communications to the Board and/or relevant
Board committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer the
Shareholders’ questions.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company uses a number of formal communications channels to
account to Shareholders for the performance of the Company. These
include the annual reports, interim reports, financial information and
announcements published on the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange, as well as through the AGMs and the EGMs with
notice of meetings and circulars. The Company aims to provide Shareholders
and potential investors with high standards of disclosure and financial
transparency. In order to provide effective disclosure to investors and
potential investors and ensure that they all receive equal access to the same
information at the same time, information considered to be price sensitive
in nature is released by way of formal public announcements as required by
the Listing Rules. The Company also welcomes comments and questions from
Shareholders at its AGMs and EGMs.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Each staff is regarded as an informal monitor. The Group relies on each of
its employee, at all levels, to monitor quality, ethics and professional and
the Group's standards. The Group listens to employees’ concerns, receives
recommendations for improving the Group's practices and controls and
announces timely communications on policy changes and other matters of the
Group.

The Company has reviewed its whistleblowing policy to provide its customers
and suppliers with reporting channels in view of the amendments to the code
provisions of the CG Code having come into effect on 1 January 2022.

LATEST ENHANCED GOVERNANCE

At its meeting held on 29 September 2022, the Board formalised in writing
an anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy of the Company and a mechanism for
ensuring independent views and input to be available to the Board with
procedures for Directors to seek independent legal advice.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, aged 68, was nominated and appointed as an
Executive Director and the Chairman by the Shareholders at the first EGM
in 2014. On 15 January 2021, he resigned as the Chairman and remained
as an Executive Director. Mr. Lee was re-appointed the Chairman with effect
from 22 February 2022. He is currently an authorized representative of the
Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and a director in a number
of subsidiaries of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer as well as the
legal representative and a member of the general management and control
committee (the “GMC Committee”) of Guangzhou Mayer.

He has over twenty years of experience in asset management for professional
and institutional investors. He has extensive experience in portfolio
construction, portfolio management, risk assessment and investment due-
diligence. Mr. Lee was the managing director of BOCI Direct Investment
Management Limited (currently known as BOC Investment Management
Limited) from 1992 to 1999, when he was responsible for the overall
management of the private equity fund. He is the representative and a
responsible officer of Success Advance Investments Limited, a Type 4 (advising
on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated entity registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.

He is presently an executive director of China Internet Investment Finance
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Opes Asia Development Limited) (stock
code: 810) and an independent non-executive director of Ev Dynamics
(Holdings) Limited (stock code 476), both companies being listed on the
Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of Guoan
International Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
143) and Singapore Exchange (stock code: G11), from 1 June 2000 to 27
August 2021. Further, he was a non-executive director of Starlight Culture
Entertainment Group Limited (formerly known as Karce International Holdings
Company Limited, and subsequently Sinogreen Energy International Group
Limited and Jimei International Entertainment Group Limited) (stock code:
1159), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, until 31 August 2013.

Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, aged 27, was appointed an Executive Director with
effect from 29 November 2019 and is a director in a number of subsidiaries
of the Company, including Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited.
He is currently the sole director of Harbour Prestige International Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

He graduated from the Faculty of Commerce and Business Administration
of the University of British Columbia, Canada with a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in 2018 and worked as a senior marketing consultant at TELUS after
graduation..
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EFEhEREEBASREE

Mr. Chen Zhirui, aged 45, was appointed as an Executive Director with
effect from 29 November 2019 and is also a director in various subsidiaries of
the Company.

He has over 20 years of experience in the property industry. He has been
employed by various companies in the property industry in Zhuhai City of the
PRC over the years. He was appointed as the managing director of Zhuhai
Henggin Zhongle Investment Company Limited* (BRBEZRETERFRA
7)) from 2016 to 2018. Since then, he has been appointed concurrently as
the managing director of Zhuhai Zhongle City Renewal Company Limited* (Ek
BRI T BEHRARAT)("Zongle”), the vice chairman and executive vice
general manager of Zhuhai Hua Fa Fenghuang Property Development Limited*
(BKBEEZRBEEMEABRAE) and the vice chairman and executive vice
general manager of Zhuhai Hau Fa Yue Tang Property Development Limited*
(HKREEXHEEERZAMRAE) ("Yue Tang”). Presently, Zongle is a
subsidiary of the Company and Yue Tang is an associate of the Company.

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the Southeast
University in the PRC.

Mr. Xiao Libo, aged 46, was appointed an Executive Director on 9
November 2021 and the CEO on 26 November 2021. He is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer.

Mr. Xiao has worked in different types of companies for more than 20
years, including Legend Holdings Corporation, Shenzhen Qunlixin Industrial
Company Ltd.* CRIITBEILFZEESEBRAE), Anno (Shenzhen) Innovation
Technology Company Limited* (& CRII) BIFEMERAE) and
Shenzhen Ruiyuan Power Technology Company Limited* GFIIIHREN
BB BRAE) . He has many years of experience in sales, operation and
management.

He graduated from Jiangxi University of Technology in the PRC, majoring in
business administration.

Dr. Cheung Ka Yue, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 9 November 2021, was re-designated as a Non-
executive Director on 30 November 2021 and was further re-designated as
an Executive Director with effect from 26 April 2022. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company, including Guangzhou Mayer and a
member of the GMC Committee of Guangzhou Mayer.

Dr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in strategic investment, business
administration and commercial developments. He has profound knowledge
and extensive experience in the regulatory, corporate finance, compliance and
corporate governance fields.

Dr. Cheung is active in public and community service. He is a committee
member of Sha Tin District National Education Committee in Hong Kong and
an adviser of Scout Association of Hong Kong New Territories East Region.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

As a practising accountant in Hong Kong, Dr. Cheung holds a doctoral degree
in business administration, a master’s degree in laws, a master’'s degree in
professional accountancy and a bachelor’s degree in accounting.

Dr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of IAG
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8513) and has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Success Dragon International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182) with effect from 19 October 2022, both
companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lam Chung Chak, aged 48, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
on 25 November 2021. He is a son of Ms. Wong Shek Kwan, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

He has over 18 years of experience in operation and investment of logistic,
real estate development and food and beverage projects in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He is currently the managing director of Citi-Base Holdings Limited.

He obtained a master’s degree from the University of Toronto in Canada.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung, aged 75, was appointed an INED on 9 October 2014
and is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

He has extensive experience in financial accounting, auditing, taxation,
company secretarial matter and corporate finance, especially in mergers,
acquisitions and corporate restructuring.

Mr. Lau is currently an independent non-executive director of Huaxi Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 1689), and was an executive director and
company secretary of Rich Goldman Holdings Limited (stock code: 70)
(formerly known as Massive Resources International Corporation and
subsequently Neptune Group Limited), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A certified public accountant in Hong Kong, Mr. Lau is a fellow of the HKICPA
and was a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
England and an associate member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Lau holds a Senior Executive Master Degree in Business
Administration from Charles Darwin University in Australia and has obtained
a Diploma in Insolvency issued by the HKICPA and an Executive Diploma in
International Business Valuation issued by the School of Professional and
Continuing Education of the University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Chan Chun Kit, aged 37, appointed as an INED with effect from 9
November 2021 and is the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

He was (i) the compliance director of Supreme China Securities Limited,
a licensed corporation to conduct type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated
activity under the SFO from August 2014 to June 2016; (ii) the Responsible
Officer of OX Financial Securities Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct
type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under the SFO from 15
December 2016 to 15 March 2017; and (iii) the director of VisTreasure Asset
Management Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct type 4 (advising on
securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activity under the SFO
from 2017 until 2019.

He was an independent non-executive director and a non-executive director
of Echo International Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8218), the issued
shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 30
January 2015 to 9 March 2015 and from 9 March 2015 to 31 March 2020,
respectively.

He graduated from the University of Exeter in England with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Business Studies (majoring in Finance and Economics) in 2009.

Mr. Lu Jianping, aged 58, was appointed an INED with effect from
28 February 2022 and is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, as well as a
supervisor and a member of the GMC Committee of Guangzhou Mayer.

He has over 30 years' engineering and management experience gained from
working in a number of companies in Guangzhou and Tsingtao in the PRC. He
is currently a professional technical staff of Guangzhou Yangcheng Property
Management Co., Ltd.

He graduated from Jinggiao University in the PRC with a professional diploma
in laws.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses of the Group are respectively under the direct responsibility
of the Executive Directors named above, led by the Chairman. They are
regarded as members of the Group’s senior management.
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The Directors are pleased to present this report of the Directors together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the
Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the processing, manufacturing and
selling of steel sheets, steel pipes and other steel products in the PRC, and (ii)
urban renewal project planning and consulting in the PRC.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Reporting Period is set out in
Segment Information in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of business review during the Reporting Period are set out in the
“Business Review" section of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 8 to 13 of this Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has endeavoured to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse in daily operations, such as investing in energy-
efficient lighting and equipment, enhancing paper recycling to reduce
consumption and waste, and raising the environmental awareness of our
employees. The Group will continue to seek better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the organization.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its issued Shares
listed and traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange. The Group
principally engaged in the processing, manufacturing and selling of steel
sheets, steel pipes and other steel products in the PRC, as well as urban
renewal project planning and consulting in the PRC.

The Group has kept itself abreast of the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on the operation of its
business. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, Hong
Kong, Singapore, the PRC and the British Virgin Islands during the Reporting
Period.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has maintained, good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the Group’s strategies
and business objectives, as well as the Group's business development and
sustainability in the long run.

Employees

The Group believes that its employees are critical factors to the Group's
success and competitiveness in the market. To attract high calibre people
and solidify the management of the Group, eligible participants (including
employees of the Group) may be granted options to subscribe for the Shares
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge so as to maintain their competitiveness.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are monitored by the Board
and the Remuneration Committee having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Customers

Customer satisfaction with the products and services of the Group has a
profound effect on the Group's profitability. Its dedicated team of sales
people are in constant communication with customers and potential
customers to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. The Group will continue to grasp the market trend so as
to timely adjust its operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

Suppliers

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with the Group’s
strategic suppliers and contractors is important to achieve higher levels of
efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the capabilities
of its suppliers and contractors to determine whether they are able to meet
its requirement and needs from time to time. Developing and maintaining
good relationship with various commercial banks, financial institutions and
high net-worth individuals are always the main tasks of the Group because its
operations require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The largest and the five largest customers accounted for 9.61% and 31.77%
(for the year ended 31 December 2020: 11.1% and 28.0% respectively) of
the Group's total turnover for the Reporting Period, respectively. The largest
and the five largest suppliers accounted for 25% and 53% (for the year
ended 31 December 2020: 21.8% and 44.8% respectively) of the Group’s
purchases for the Reporting Period, respectively. None of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company's share capital) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business of the Group are set out in the note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions constitute any
connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BORROWINGS
Details of borrowings of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in
notes 27 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 83 and 84,
respectively of this Report.

No interim dividend was declared during the Reporting Period. The Board
does not recommend the payment of a final dividend.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five years including the period for 18 months ended 30 June 2022 is set
out on page 160 of this Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements of the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 87 of this Report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2020, the Company had no
distributable reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2022 are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme previously adopted on 24 May 2004 had
expired on 24 May 2014 (the “Old Share Option Scheme"”). Under the
Old Share Option Scheme, no options were granted from its adoption until
expiration.

The Shareholders approved the adoption of the Share Option Scheme at a
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2019. The relevant details
of the Share Option Scheme were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 30 April 2019 (the “Circular”).
capitalized terms set out herein shall have the same respective meanings as

Unless otherwise defined, the
set out in the Circular.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward Participants who have
contributed to the Group and to encourage Participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the Shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board considers that the
Share Option Scheme will incentivise more persons to contribute positively
to the Group, and facilitate the retention and the recruitment of high-calibre
staff of the Group.
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Participants

Participants, including advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters and service providers of the Group, will be determined
by the Board according to their potential and/or actual contribution to the
business affairs of and benefits to the Group. Employees and directors of the
Group, including full-time or part-time employees, directors, management,
consultants and advisers will be given incentives to work towards enhancing
the value and attaining the long-term objectives of the Company and for the
benefit of the Group.

Previous Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of Shares issuable pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
was 174,800,000 Shares, unless the Company obtains an approval from the
Shareholders to refresh the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each grantee under the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed: (i) 1% of the Shares in issue for the time
being; and (i) 0.1% the Shares in issue and a value of HK$5 million if the
grantee is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an INED or any of
their respective associates.

Exercise Price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the Date of Grant which must be a Business Day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

Exercise Period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the period to be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon the grant of Options (the “"Exercise Period”); such period
shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant of the relevant Option.
Options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme shall continue
to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after the end of the
ten-year Period.

Vesting Period

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which an Option
must be held or the performance targets which must be achieved under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.
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Amount Payable on Acceptance and Payment Period
HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company upon acceptance of the
Option which must be taken up within 28 days from the date of offer.

Remaining Life
The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a term of ten years from
the date of adoption until 30 May 2029.

Grant of Options During the Reporting Period

On 12 January 2022, the Company entered into a consultancy agreement
with Sino Light Investment Advisory Limited (the and the
"Consultancy Agreement”, respectively), and pursuant to which:

“Grantee”

(i) the Company had appointed the Grantee as a consultant of the
Company for the provision of the Consultancy Services (as defined in the
Consultancy Agreement) for a term of two years from the Completion
Date (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement); and

(i) the Board had resolved to grant 174,800,000 Options to the Grantee
to subscribe for a total of 174,800,000 Shares under the Share
Option Scheme, subject to the conditions precedent set out under the
Consultancy Agreement, as consideration for the Consultancy Services.

An ordinary resolution regarding the entering into of the Consultancy
Agreement involving the grant of Options (the particulars of which are stated
below) was passed by the Shareholders at the 2022 EGM.

Details of the Options
Grant Date:
12 January 2022

Exercise Price of Options Granted:
HK$0.20 per Share

Closing Price immediately before Grant Date:
HK$0.19 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange

Number of Options Granted:
174,800,000 Options (each Option shall entitle the holder thereof to
subscribe for one Share)

Validity and Exercise Period of Options:
Subject to the Share Option Scheme, the Options are valid and exercisable in
whole or in part for a period of ten years from the Grant Date.
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Vesting Conditions:

i)  50% of the Options shall be vested on the date of completion of the
Joint Venture Agreement (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) to
be entered into between the Company and a Business Partner (as defined
in the Consultancy Agreement), and shall be exercisable until the expiry
date of the validity period; and

i) conditional upon completion of the Joint Venture Agreement, 50%
of the Options shall be vested on the date of the completion of the
Equity/Debt Financing (as defined in the Consultancy Agreement) by the
Company successfully introduced and facilitated by the Grantee, and
shall be exercisable until the expiry date of the validity period.

Refreshment of Scheme Mandate Limit

Following the completion of the Consultancy Agreement, the then maximum
number of Shares that could be allotted and issued upon the exercise of
options, which might be granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) had been fully utilized.
The Board, therefore, proposed that the Scheme Mandate Limit be refreshed
and an ordinary resolution regarding the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate
Limit to 215,800,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of the 2022 EGM, was passed by the Shareholders at the
2022 EGM.

Shares Available for Issue

As at 29 September 2022, a total of 215,800,000 Shares (excluding the
underlying Shares comprised in Options that have been granted but not yet
exercised, cancelled or lapsed) were available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
on that date.

Particulars at Beginning and End of Reporting Period

There were no and 174,800,000 outstanding Options granted under the
Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2021 and 30 June 2022, respectively.
During the Reporting Period, no Options were excercised or forfeited/
cancelled or lapsed.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not redeem its listed securities;
nor did the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell such securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Report

have been:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kwok Leung (Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Shi Hao
Mr. Chen Zhirui

(resigned as Chairman on 15.01.2021
and re-appointed on 22.02.2022)

Mr. Xiao Libo (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 09.11.2021)

Dr. Cheung Ka Yue

Late Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping

Mr. Xu Lidi

NEDs
Mr. Lam Chung Chak

Ms. Cheng Bo Kei Peggy

Mr. Wang Donggqi

INEDs

Mr. Lau Kwok Hung
Mr. Chan Chun Kit

Mr. Lu Jianping
Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen

Dr. Li Yutong

Mr. Wong Chi Kin
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(appointed as INED on 09.11.2021,
re-designated as NED on
30.11.2021 and further
re-designated as Executive Director
on 26.4.2022)

(appointed as Chairman on
15.01.2021 and passed away on
28.02.2021)

(appointed as Chairman on
12.03.2021 and resigned as

Chairman and Executive Director on
03.12.2021)

(appointed on 25.11.2021)

(appointed on 25.11.2021 and
resigned on 10.03.2022)

(resigned on 11.01.2022)

(appointed on 09.11.2021)
(appointed on 28.02.2022)
(resigned on 18.11.2021)

(appointed on 15.01.2021 and
removed on 23.03.2022)

(appointed on 09.11.2021 and
resigned on 28.02.2022)
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In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall
retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao, Mr. Chen Zhirui and Mr. Lau Kwok Hung shall retire by
rotation. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the 2022 AGM.

BIOGRAPHIC INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 57 to 60 of this Report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the staff costs of the Group with retirement benefit schemes
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the Reporting
Period are set out in notes 13 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
or appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing on the respective dates of their appointment and shall continue
thereafter from year to year until and unless terminated by either party by
giving to the other party with not less than one to three months’ prior written
notice according to the terms of the corresponding service agreement.

Each of the NEDs and the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of one year commencing on the respective
dates of their appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year
until and unless terminated by either party by giving to the other party
one to three months’ prior written notice according to the terms of the
corresponding appointment letter.

Save as disclosed above, no Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming 2022 AGM has a service agreement or appointment letter with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

APPOINTMENT OF INEDS

The Company received each of the current INEDs an annual confirmation
of their independence in the Reporting Period or for the period from the
respective effective dates of their appointment to 30 June 2022 (as the case
may be) pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and as at the date of this
report, still considers all of them to be independent.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the Executive Directors’ service agreements)
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company and the Group was entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, no
Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2022, the Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EESY
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FZRF BRI o
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Approximate
percentage of
Capacity/ the issued
nature of Long position/ Number of share capital of
Name of Directors interest short position Shares held the Company
EEABBEET
EEls 515 t#EEtE wE ME FIFAEZRHEE REZBOESL
Zhou Shi Hao (“Mr. Zhou") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled Long position 410,000,000 19.00%
Atttz (TAKkEL) FsE1) corporation wa
REGEE
Lam Chung Chak (“Mr. Lam") Beneficial owner/ Long position 3,320,000 0.15%

(Note 2) e

e (THMEE)) (EE2)

Family interest
BalER A RKEER

Notes:

1. As at 30 June 2022, 410,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 19% of the
issued Shares, were held by Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned by Mr.
Zhou who is an Executive Director. By virtue of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO, Mr. Zhou was deemed to be interested in the 410,000,000 Shares held by
Harbour Prestige.

2. Mr. Lam and Ms. Cheng Bo Kei Peggy (“"Ms. Peggy Cheng”) are spouses.
Mr. Lam personally held 2,720,000 Shares while Ms. Peggy Cheng personally
held 600,000 Shares. Mr. Lam is a son of Ms. Wong Shek Kwan, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

3. As at 30 June 2022, there were a total of 2,158,000,000 Shares in issue.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives nor their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in any Shares or
underlying Shares of our Company or any of its associated corporations (as

defined in the SFO) at 30 June 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSONS’
INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2022, the interests or short positions of every person or entity,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares and
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares
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Cheung Ngan Beneficial owner 518,680,000 24.04
IRE] BEmEBA
Harbour Prestige 1 Beneficial owner 410,000,000 19.00
B BmEAA
Valley Park Global Corporation 2 Beneficial owner 230,000,000 10.66
(“Valley Park") BREBA
Liu Qiong 2 Interest in controlled 230,000,000 10.66
corporation
2R REGEE
Wong Shek Kwan Beneficial owner 217,320,000 10.07
FRH EmEBA
Cheng Siu Ang (“Ms. Cheng") 3 Interests held jointly with 162,000,000 7.51
another person/Beneficial
owner
;i (M ty) HEMATHERFEZ
#m BmEAA
So Pak Wing (“Mr. So") 3 Interests held jointly with 162,000,000 7851

g (TER L))

another person/Beneficial
owner

BEMATHRAFEZ
#m BmEAA
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Notes:

1. These 410,000,000 Shares are held by Harbour Prestige, a company wholly owned
by Mr. Zhou who is an Executive Director.

2. According to the notice of disclosure of interests of Valley Park filed with the Stock
Exchange, Liu Qiong, who is deemed to be interested in 230,000,000 Shares held
by Valley Park under Part XV of the SFO, owns 100% of the interest of Valley Park.
To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquires, Liu Qiong is an independent third party to the Group and is
also not a party acting in concert with any of the Shareholders.

3. These 162,000,000 shares are jointly held by Mr. So and Ms. Cheng. Mr. So is
the spouse of Ms. Cheng. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, both Mr. So and Ms. Cheng are
independent third parties to the Group and are also not a party acting in concert
with any of the Shareholders.

4. As at 30 June 2022, there were a total of 2,158,000 Shares in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, no person or entity had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Directors, supervisors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance (whether for the provision of services to the Group
or not) in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at 30 June 2022 or at any time during the Reporting
Period ended that date.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having been made specific
enquiries by the Company, all the current Directors have confirmed their
compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period or for the period from the respective effective dates of their
appointment as Directors to 30 June 2022 (as the case may be).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with article 175 of the Articles of Association, every Director
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Companies Law, if any
Director or other person shall become personally liable for the payment of any
sum primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be
executed any mortgage, charge, or security over or affection the whole or any
part of the assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director
or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such
liability.

Save as the above, at no time during the Reporting Period, and up to the date
of this Report was or is there any permitted indemnity provision (as defined in
section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of
the Laws of Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors
(whether made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of any
associated company (if made by the Company).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’'s total Shares in
issue was held by the public as at 30 June 2022.

EQUITY- LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
Shares or (ii) require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company
during the Reporting Period or existed at the end of such Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their close associates had an interest in a
business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group, or
has any other conflict of interest with the Group.
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Report of the Directors

ERTHRS

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ DETAILS

Changes in the Directors’ details since the date of the interim report of
the Company for the 12 months ended 31 December 2021 (the “Interim
Report”) or (as the case may be) the date of announcement for the
redesignation of Director issued by the Company subsequent to the date
of the Interim Report and up to the date of release of the results of the
Company for the 18 months ended 30 June 2022, which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) and Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
are set out below.

1. Mr. Lee Kwok Leung, Chairman and Executive Director, was appointed a
member of the GMC Committee of Guangzhou Mayer with effect from
21 April 2022 and ceased to be an independent director of Imperial
Pacific International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1076), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 12 August 2022; and

2. Dr. Cheung Ka Yue, a NED, was redesignated as an Executive Director
with effect from 26 April 2022 and was appointed as a director and a
member of the GMC Committee of Guangzhou Mayer, both with effect
from 21 April 2022. He was also appointed as an independent non-
executive director of IAG Holdings Limited (stock code: 8513), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 30 June 2022.

3. Mr. Lu Jianping, an INED, was appointed as a member of the GMC
Committee of Guangzhou Mayer with effect from 21 April 2022.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the principal corporate governance practices of the Group are set

out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this Report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have
been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. The Board has taken the
recommendation of the Audit Committee that a resolution for the re-
appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as the independent auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
9 December 2022 to Wednesday, 14 December 2022 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares can be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2022 AGM, non-
registered Shareholders must lodge all the duly completed and stamped
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8 December 2022.

On behalf of the Board
Lee Kwok Leung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 September 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Bk S
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAYER HOLDINGS LIMITED ETKRERAT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mayer Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 83 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from 1 January 2021
to 30 June 2022 (the "Period”), and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 30 June 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the period from 1 January
2021 to 30 June 2022 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1. Interest in an associate
Included in the consolidated financial statements is interest in an
associate, Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang Property Development Limited (the
"Associate”) with carrying amount of approximately RMB209 million
as at 30 June 2022 and share of loss of approximately RMB225,000 for
the Period. The Associate is engaged in the urban land redevelopment
in Zhuhai, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
the pandemic event of the novel coronavirus decease 2019 (the
“COVID-19") that slowed down the business development of the
Associate, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence

Due to

to satisfy ourselves as to the estimated schedule of the redevelopment
which is the major assumption adopted in the calculation of the value-
in-use of the Associate. As such, the value-in-use of the Associate
cannot be reliably measured. As a result, we are unable to ascertain the
recoverable amount of the Associate as at 30 June 2022, and whether
any impairment should be made for the Associate and the share of loss
during the Period.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss in connection with the
guarantee given by the vendor and the guarantor regarding the target
profit achieved by Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and
its subsidiaries (the “Happy Group"”) during the three years ended
31 December 2021 and the put option to transfer the entire interest
of Happy Group to vendor of RMB Nil and RMB Nil, respectively and
the change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of RMB19,000. On 11 March 2022, the Group, the vendor and
the guarantor entered into a supplementary agreement to extend the
expiry date of the profit guarantee by 18 months and corresponding
amendments to the option period. The supplementary agreement
constitutes connected transaction of the Company under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and is subject to the approval by independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company (the "EGM"). The fair
value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are based
on the assumption that the supplementary agreement will be approved in
the EGM.

Due to (i) the uncertainty in the approval of the supplementary
agreement at the EGM, of which the date of the meeting is still not yet
fixed at the date of this report, and (ii) insufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves the reasonableness of the assumptions in
estimation of the future profit of the Happy Group as the pandemic
event of COVID-19 that slowed down the business development of
the Happy Group, we are unable to ascertain that the fair value of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are reliably measured.

Prepayments and trade receivables

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, the Group made
several prepayments with total amounts of approximately RMB92 million
to certain service providers for assisting the Group and trade receivables
of RMB40 million for providing agency service in certain urban land
redevelopment projects in Zhuhai. Due to the pandemic event of
COVID-19 that slowed down the progress of the land redevelopment
projects, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
ascertain whether any future economic benefit can be obtained from the
redevelopment projects so that the prepayments and trade receivables
can be recovered. As such, we are unable to evaluate the recoverability
of the prepayments and trade receivables as at 30 June 2022 and
whether any impairment should be made for the prepayments and trade
receivables during the Period.
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Consolidation of Shenzhen Hei Jing Photoelectric
Technology Co., Limited (“Hei Jing”)

On 9 February 2022, a former director of the Company who is also a
former director of certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC using a
suspected forgery seal, entered into an agreement with other parties to
dispose of 51% equity interest in Hei Jing at a total cash consideration of
RMB5.3 million (the “Disposal”). The consideration was received on 1
February 2022 and 31 March 2022 and the registration of the ownership
of the equity interest was changed to the purchaser on 14 February
2022. After the removal of the former director, the board of directors of
the Company (the “"Directors”) carried out a review of the transaction.
As stated note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
considered that the consideration of the Disposal was too low and unfair
and the Group would suffer significant loss upon the Disposal. The
Directors is of the view that the Disposal is unenforceable. Therefore, the
Group instigated a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume the
ownership of the 51% equity interest in Hei Jing. Accordingly, Hei Jing
is still accounted for as a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and the financial results for the period from 14 February 2022 (the date
of the Disposal) to 30 June 2022 and the financial position as at 30
June 2022 of Hei Jing were consolidated in the Group's consolidated
financial statements and the consideration received of RMB5.3 million
was included in other payable.

Due to the fact that the outcome of the legal action is uncertain, we
were unable to ascertain whether the result for the period from 14
February 2022 to 30 June 2022 and the financial position as at 30 June
2022 of Hei Jing should be consolidated in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements under HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements” and whether the consideration received of RMB5.3 million is
correctly accounted for as other payable.

In addition, due to the insufficient supporting documentations and
explanations for the accounting books and records in respect of Hei Jing
for the Period, we were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the following income and expenditure for the
Period and assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2022 as included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been accurately
recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Income and expenditure for the Period HARWA KR

RMB'000
AR¥TT
Revenue gt =
Other income Hg A 73
Administrative expenses TR (47)
26

The net assets as at 30 June 2022: RIEZ_FEA=+HMNEEZFE :
RMB'000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment MEBEREE 3,745
Inventories =8 1,137
Other receivables Hfh W RIE 7,647
Prepayment and deposits A RIB MR E 4,569
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITHE R 12
Accrual expenses fESTRIZ 9)
17,101

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to 4 above
might have significant consequential effects on the Group’s results and
cash flows for the Period and the financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2022, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the Key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.

Trade receivables

Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of approximately RMB152,952,000 as at 30 June 2022 is material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgment and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the
customers;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

— Assessing ageing of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables is
supported by the available evidence.

Inventory
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of inventory for impairment. This impairment
test is significant to our audit because the balance of inventory of
approximately RMB92,406,000 as at 30 June 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test
involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Attend the physical count to identify and assess aged and obsolete
inventory;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the ageing of the inventory;

—  Assessing the net realisable values of the inventory; and
—  Checking subsequent sales and usage of the inventory.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for inventory is supported by
the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company’'s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence from points 1 to 4.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information
is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at: http://www.hkicpa.
org.hk/en/standards-and-setting/standards/our-views/auditre/.

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268
Hong Kong, 29 September 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
ZEEEER

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
- —fF HE
—B—HZE TECTHF
b oot +ZRA=+—H
~A=+H IEFE
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
=3 AR¥TT ARBFTT
Revenue &= 7 902,652 581,112
Cost of sales HER K (783,941) (460,795)
Gross profit EF 118,711 120,317
Other income H A 8 24,637 11,258
Other net gain/(loss) Hithha,/ (B548) 358 9 2,525 (9,026)
Distribution costs DR A (60,931) (33,723)
Administrative expenses TR (70,163) (41,125)
Other operating expenses HiK &Rz (6) (38)
Profit from operations EGEF 14,773 47,663
Share of loss of a joint venture fElE—BaE ¥ BE - (449)
Share of loss of an associate Eh—EHE AR 2R (225) (152)
Finance costs FA 75 Al AR 11 (17.915) (14,442)
(Loss)/profit before tax BR¥ AT (B548) Al (3,367) 32,620
Income tax expense FriginfE X 12 (5,452) (11,940)
(Loss)/profit for the period/iyear HiF R (F518) HHF 13 (8,819) 20,680
(Loss)/profit for the period/year  THIKERELE,FRX
attributable to: (&518) @A -
Owners of the Company KNBER A (14,304) 15,854
Non-controlling interests FEPERG R 2 5,485 4,826
(8,819) 20,680
(Loss)/earnings per share = (5518) & 16
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) BEARREE (ARIEBD) (0.66) 0.73
ETERERAE 83
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
maiRmkEMEERER

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 &2 —Z -~ F;xA=+HIE+/\{@H

1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
S —fF S
—B—BE it St P
s +ZA=+—H
~A=+H ILEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTT
(Loss)/profit for the period/year Hi,&E R (§518) % F) (8,819) 20,680
Other comprehensive income: Hih2mEukss :
Items that may be reclassified to BB P EEEmCEHE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating HMEBIINEBEE
foreign operations PERELE (4,485) 19,941
Items that will not be reclassified to R EEN S BEERZEE
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating HMEBIINEBEE
foreign operations PERELE 3,579 (18,769)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ HiEREM2E BIxZ)
income for the period/year, W o BRI E
net of tax (906) 1,172
Total comprehensive (expense)) HiE£RZ2E FX)
income for the period/year W s 4ERE (9,725) 21,852
Total comprehensive (expense))  THRIEEWLE, ERE2E
income for the period/year (B%R) WRan48%E :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEE A (15,210) 17,026
Non-controlling interests FEERE = 5,485 4,826
(9,725) 21,852
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMTIARR

As at 30 June 2022 R-ZE__&F,xB=+H

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
S5 —=-=f
~NB=+H +=ZB=+—H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
ok ARETT ARBETF T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEKRFKE 17 53,028 47,482
Right-of-use assets BREEE 18 5,377 7,820
Interest in joint ventures REgEhEr#nm 20 - =
Interest in an associate R—EBRE Az #Em 19 209,110 209,335
267,515 264,637
Current assets EEE
Inventories 78 22 93,543 87,635
Trade and other receivables B 5 AR A
Hh U RIE 23 367,614 384,721
Financial assets at fair value BAREBESTAEBRZ
through profit or loss ETMEE 21 - 19
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEEB 25 33,201 37,575
494,358 509,950
Current liabilities ik =R
Trade and other payables B 5 ENERA
Ht (I R1E 26 115,447 98,749
Current tax payables B EAFE(IRIE 12,791 11,3115
Lease liabilities HESE 30 203 1,536
Borrowings == 27 7,637 40,000
Promissory notes AR ERE 28 142,281 127,003
278,359 278,603
Net current assets MBEEFE 215,999 231,347
Total assets less current WEERTREBARE
liabilities 483,514 495,984
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE
Lease liabilities HESR 30 - 885
- 885
NET ASSETS BEZE 483,514 495,099
EuERERAR 85
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Ra MR RR

Asat 30 June 2022 R-ZE - _&F,xB=+H

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR®FT AR®FT
Capital and reserves Be A e it 18

Share capital B4 37 391,760 391,760
Reserves Egi 28,060 43,270

Equity attributable to owners of RABVER NEEER
the Company 419,820 435,030
Non-controlling interests eI 63,694 60,069
TOTAL EQUITY iR 483,514 495,099

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 159 were approved and  $£83E159B Vi A M B RRCEEEEN -2

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2022 and are _—_FH A+ B ERE#ETIE > T H T
signed on its behalf by: BEARE
Approved by: BIFIESHE -
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung Dr. Cheung Ka Yue
FEREE REREL
Director Director
EZE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
maEmEEsmR

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

Attributable to owners of the Company

EARRENESR
Statutory Foreign
Statutory public currency Non-
Share Share Special surplus welfare  translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve fund reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
[z RiEE FHRE  EROAE  iRDEE  MEREER EHER Nt EREE L H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETRT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR NEBTT
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-%5-F-H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (25,081) (260,3%) 418,004 55,781 473,785
Profit for the year FhiEH - - - - - - 15,854 15,854 4826 20,680
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations ~ BEEHEREECERER - - - - - 111 - 117 - 111
Total comprehensive income for the year ERRENELE - - - - - 111 15,854 17,026 14826 21852
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (898) (898)
Contribution from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 360 360
At 31 December 2020 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (23,909) (244,542) 435,030 60,069 495,099
At 1 January 2021 RZZ_-%¥-F-H 391,760 213,309 67,570 25,892 4,950 (23,909) (244,542) 435,030 60,069 495,099
Loss for the period BREE = - - - - - (14,304) (14,304) 5,485 (8,819)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations BEENEREL I ERER - - - - - (906) - (906) - (906)
Total comprehensive expense for the period BNEERRAE - - - - - (906) (14,304) (15,210) 5,485 (9,725)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests FEEREGZRE - - - - - - - - (1,860) (1,860)
At 30 June 2022 RIBZZERAZHH 391,760 213,309 67,510 25,892 4,950 (24,815) (258,846) 419,820 63,694 483,514
EDERERAR
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Consolidated Statemen
FEEHERER

t of Cash Flows

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
S —fF S
—B—HZE —EERE
—ECCF +ZA=+—H
~A=+H IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AREFT
(Loss)/profit before taxation bR AT (B518) T (3,367) 32,620
Adjustments for: MTIFBBEIEH 2B .
Depreciation Es 7,315 3,682
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 2,050 1,783
Finance costs B F A 17,915 14,442
Interest income F B WA (722) (769)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment loss B RUERR R EMEWRIEZ
on trade and other receivables CRERRE) REEHE (2,675) 377
Share of results of an associate FEh—REBE AR 2 & 225 152
Share of results of a joint venture EhE—EaEhErEE - 449
Unrealized loss on financial assets BARBESTABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss THMEEZREREBIR 19 7,551
Gain on lease modification HEET W= 73 =
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERZEZ
plant and equipment BE1RFEE 638 318
Operating profit before working EEESEFpIcEE R
capital changes 21,471 60,605
Change in inventories GFEEE) (5,908) (4,995)
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 U ER R R
HAith EUWRIEZ #8) 17,915 (94,267)
Change in trade and other payables B BRI
HAtE T RIEZ 28 16,698 (2,809)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KERE (FrR) 28i% 50,176 (41,466)
Income tax paid B ER (3,976) (3,119)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RESEEBARRT, (FH) 2R3
operating activities 46,200 (44,585)
Cash flows from investing activities REZHREHE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BERZEMERIE
plant and equipment 355 228
Payment for purchase of property, BEYE BEREBNLR
plant and equipment (13,819) (19,130)
Capital injection into joint ventures AeEEETE = (500)
Interest received BUF R 722 769
Net cash used in investing activities REEZEFIAZIREFEE (12,742) (18,633)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

4= A
17 R = |

RERER

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
== i 8=
—HBA—H=E ZEZEHF
b oot +ZRA=+—H
~B=+H IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBFT
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHRERE
Contribution from non-controlling interests JEERERTE - 360
Proceeds from new borrowings MEBEZREMIE 7,637 =
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (40,000) (38,139)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (1,887) (1,719)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests SN FIEERERZKRE (1,860) (610)
Interest paid BENFE (4,511) (2,057)
Net cash used in financing activities REEEMAZREFE (40,621) (42,165)
Net decrease in cash and ReERFAEEEEBRLVFHE
cash equivalents (7,163) (105,383)
Cash and cash equivalents FYzRERREEEER
at beginning of year 37,575 146,422
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate INEEXREEF B 2,789 (3,464)
Cash and cash equivalents HH EXzEesRESZEIER
at end of period/year 33,201 37,575
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&ERRESEEEBEE Z A1
Bank and cash balances R1T R IREAEER 33,201 374575

ETERAERAT 89
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R Y EE

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

90

GENERAL INFORMATION 1. —HQE*—I-
Mayer Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company EnERERAT (IAAT ) A—RBER
with limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands and its registered SEHESMRIZEREERAT  Hx
office is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman M= & APO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Islands. The principal place of business is located at 21th Floor, No. 88 Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islandso £ &%
Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. ERBUNE BB (TR TE88T211E
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities RKANBA—BREBZERKR AT AT WE A
of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated B FEEBRHEN G RRME37
financial statements.
Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors dated 22 December wREHAHA-_E_—F+_B_-_+-HHN—
2021, the Group changed its financial year end date from 31 December BEE@RBEE AEBBHFBEELS
to 30 June. This will enable the Group to rationalise and mobilise HRE+-ZB=+—BEXAE/,~"B=+H
its resources with higher efficiency for the preparation of results SHAEBSEREENMEEEET R  UR
announcement as well as reports given the change will: BESNERBE WWHERT N !
avoid competition of resources with other listed companies with BERMERSIREAREEM AT FE
regard to results announcement and report-related external services EmG IEREE NS RRESHBEA I
under the peak reporting season in the market; and HRFER, &
ii. remove the uncertainty from the variation in the dates of the i. HRETHEBH RN BEHNT®E
Chinese New Year Holiday which put presssure on the workflow. EMMmA TIERIZFTERAEE S o
The current financial statements cover a eighteen-months period ended REMBRRREEE _ S __F,\A=1+
30 June 2022 and the comparative financial statements cover a twelve- A+ NBEEHRE MEERHAEREREE
months year ended 31 December 2020. The comparative amounts are, ECEEF+_HBA=+—HIE+ZERE
therefore, not entirely comparable. E-AlL tEiR&BREFET M
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. R IREESTERUBERS

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

the Group has adopted the
following new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"), and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first
time for the consolidated financial statements.

In the current reporting period,

HKFRS 4, 7, 9 and 16 Amendments in relation to Interest

28

(a) ZxEEMIRM Z 5T RS IEFT 2R
RAREH ZEARGEYHRRE
RPN EBGSTAE (EBEHAR
) B Z UM REESTERME
BEER(EBMBREEN) (ETE
EEEBMBRGERN - EEBEHER
(TEREHER) ki) -

ERMBREENBAT ERNREENZME]

and HKAS 39 Rate Benchmark Reform FT5 FITRE 165
UREEGFHER]
%5395
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions ERVHREENE 165 FERFEBEESER

The Group concluded that the application of the Amendments
to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current reporting period has had no
material impact on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out
in the consolidated financial statements.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

w o TR R MY EE

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d)
(b) New standards and amendments to standards issued
but not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2021 and not early adopted by

81 @)

(b) R-F_—F—A—HHREHN
ERHERKRENESEBILERFR
AP RTET 2 A R AR AE RT £ R

- RN BT B RMBRS

GEHHAR

the Group
Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
RUTHBAHZE
FtAR E st AR £ R
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
EBPHREERNFE175E REBEH —E_=%—HF—H
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023
BRGEE 19 (BTA) BEIER/RBTIERE “E_=%—H—H
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
BRGEE 19 (BTA) BRI E S 5T BEREST —ET=F—HF—H
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
BB GTERE8R (BT A) ARG SHEET EREST —E_=%—H—H
HKAS 12 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to deferred tax related to assets and 1 January 2023

liabilities arising from a single transaction

ERGHEAFEI125R (B5TA) ERE—XRZELENEERSREMNIELERENEST =
HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022
ERGHEAFI65 (B5TA) W RR s Re s f8 | (R B E R AT 1S 7RI ¥ -&5—HA—H
HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous contract — cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022
ERGSHEAFEITHR (B5TA) BEEN-BITaNNME b = 25— 5
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 1 January 2022
BRMBREEAEIR (B5TH) MBRESHEIER T -5—A—H
HKAS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions 1 April 2021
ERGHEAFI65 (B5TA) MR EHEMEEEE —ZT_—FA—H
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
BRMBREED (B5TA) EEUBRSEN - N\EFE"_E_TFHBP FENE —F__F—F—H
HK = Int 5 Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1 1 January 2023
BB —ZREESHR BERAEB G ERE1RETANERT —E-=%—H—H

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

ERAUBREENFI0R K
548G

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on the
impact of these new standards and amendments to standards and A
preliminary results showed that their application are not expected
to have material impact on the financial performance and financial

position of the Group.

SHHERISE285% (BFT 40)

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture

REEHRERELADNGECEZHNEELRETTE

PN-Z &

To be determined

RFRERE

FEBEAETEZEHTENREETER
BVrERBTRAREERATE
HEAERNYBRRERVBRRIAIEELS

ETERAERAT 9 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which are carried at their fair
values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 June/31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company's share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

92 Mayer Holdings Limited

Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022

3. EXg

stEUER
RREMBRRDIBBEBYHREEL
ERARBGARUKREEMERZFAAR
AEFEFLETRAY (EHRA)) REB(RE
1HP) 2 BERRERTERH

FREMBRRDBBELRAEARR
TR EERANBEIKRZEZAARBESA
?E t 2 TR EEFLERT -

MUNEEBYTREEN ZGAUHTRE
RETRETEERS )S'ZTEaJr fﬁ%fﬁafr
BUERB » BRI AR FIER % KRR H i =
BB R 2 BREREFHEGEPHFRE
MEBEARZEBNGEMHFRERW TR

FEo

MUAGEMBREAFEAZERS
WX

sTIUER

RERE
REPVBERRCERARADRENBABDEE
ANA=+H/+ZA=+—HZHBREK-
MT%@?%ﬁ%IE@EEP%EE%MEZE
EXERAZTHAETFE2HEBERMEZ

i%@%& IER=) ﬁLﬂE"ﬁ;\EaZﬁEﬁ%;
ZERIRE KEBAEGRZER EXAER
RREAZENETHEMEZEAREE @D
RIEHZEERORIEY) 2ENRK AEH
BB ZERER -

EEERRE REEEEZRHEEBEERR

T%&ET&AiﬁEZ“Hfﬁiﬂg NEEH
CHEAENR -ENFEAEABBRENT

@ EERREZBERT HS%E&IE%%'

HENBAR ERREZERE ZWEmNE
BIEOHERBZAABESIRZNEB A
BFREBEAREZAANBEA)ET QTR
LEZENBARFEESMAZKMB AR AR
Z AR T E R EAARR NS E R
BmEL ZZE e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR E M HRR M

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Consolidation (cont’d)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the period/year between the non-
controlling interests and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is measured
at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the
goodwill.

3. EAGETHE @

FARE @
MEBASREFHEEEEAEREZEAERS
AR WHEZERI#E L BRABEG AR

EEANRBIBZRS ek REREH Y
THIFE - RIFAMRZIRMHEREA TR EE
BEHRAME SRIRSRERT T UL
MEBABZ G HEREMFH N EB N MU
REAREBPTRMZ BR—E -

SFERESIETIFERIBERBNAAT
ZMBABHm - FEREENGESMHNR
MERGERDEHRZETEAREZS)
SFEREDNGEEEREMEERE RN
2HRKAEFERETREBANZRF
Wifm R 2 EW A EE DAL o

BB R SRR R IR M A5 >
F) S5 18 K H 2 W e 2 & 18 48 Bl 2B 0 B
BRAERBER ARIFERER

EBAHREE
FEBRBRBESEB S HDRBEEZ K
BABIARR BTGB E  PREETT
Hum TR FTEEEEUKRAARERUE
ERZANBESS - WEERBRAR SR
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BERBEEZ BB Z Wt

HRDBRETZEZ GG SreHAaZH
BRrEIREDZARNKBEEAZARBESE
Mg AtEEZWENBEERGSEE
NER - ARBERMAZWRBRAELEFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Business combination and goodwill (cont’d)

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in the
subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income (for example,
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income),
the amount that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the previously held
equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy (Il) below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the

acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the
Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Associates (cont’d)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of
significant influence represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets
of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Relevant activities are activities that significantly affect the
returns of the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held
by other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’'d)

Joint arrangements (cont'd)

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a
joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint venture in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is tested for impairment together with the investment
at the end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of a joint venture's post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in a loss
of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that joint venture and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets of that
joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s presentation currency.
The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollar.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Foreign currency translation (cont’d)

(iii)

98

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company's presentation currency as
follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs/revalued amounts less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:
Buildings and factory premises 5% or over the remaining term
of the lease, if shorter

10% — 33 /3% or over the
remaining term of the lease,

Leasehold improvements

if shorter
7% — 25%
5% — 33 3%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment
Motor vehicles 10% — 25%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed

and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Land and buildings 25% - 50%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial
direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Financial assets (cont'd)

(i)

(ii)

102

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are classified
under this category if they satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit
losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do not meet
the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income unless the Group designates an equity investment that is
not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest income
and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income are

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as
the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under business
combinations) are initially recognised and subsequently measured at
fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
consultants. Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair value of
the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the
Group receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance;

— the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

— the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and its joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Taxation (cont’d)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company
or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or

an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Related parties (cont’'d)
(B) (cont'd)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Company
or to a parent of the Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other than investments,
inventories and receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Impairment of assets (cont'd)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses
in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

(b) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(c) Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing
and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. Where
the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate
has been changed.

(d) Impairment of interest in an associate

The interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts of the interest in an associate exceeds their recoverable
amounts. The recoverable amounts are determined with reference
to the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
Where the recoverable amounts are less than expected or there are
unfavourable events and change in facts and circumstance which
result in revision of recoverable amounts, a material impairment loss
may arise.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The

Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the

Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

12

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances, trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial position represents
the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group’s financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The credit risk on
bank and cash balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk to its trade
receivables as the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers shared over approximately 13.4% (31 December 2020:
12.9%) and 44.9% (31 December 2020: 33.9%) of the trade
receivables respectively at the end of the reporting period. The
Group has policies and procedures to monitor the collection of
the trade receivables to limit the exposure to non-recoverable of
the receivables and there is no recent history of default for the
customer.

Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’'d)
(b) Credit risk (cont'd)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the same borrower;

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 90 days past due in making a contractual payment. A
default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make
contractual payments within 365 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont'd)

(b)

114

Credit risk (cont’d)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables which

reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is determined

for each of the categories. In calculating the expected credit loss

rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category and

HEERER @
(b) EERE @

ZISE%IHHE,%%)ELI&EE

RERELER ZEE R
Ao

quﬁ%EHHT:.fEﬂE

A L
B EEE
<PF > AEEE

BEERZELEIRLEE  BRlaiEM

adjusts for forward looking data. HIREL AR
Category Definition Loss provision

kRl E&E B R

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
RIFIEE BRI (RENE 1218 B e HA ks 18

Non-performing

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

RIFXRE EEREREZE B S HATEHRRS 1B
Other
receivables
and amount
Long term due from
receivables Joint Venture Total
Eﬂﬂ@uﬂl%’i’\lﬁ
REWEE
REAREWRIE ’JJ:\¥%9’\IE #aEt
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®ET T ARETF T
Balance as at 30 June 2022 RZEZ_HXB=1+HZ#&H 50,000 12,396 62,396
Provision for loss allowance B EIR G (50,000) - (50,000)
Carrying amounts IREEEE - 12,396 12,396
Balance as at 31 December 2020 R —F
+ZB=+—HZ#&E% 50,000 7,485 57,485
Provision for loss allowance BB EIREE (50,000) S (50,000)
Carrying amounts IREEEE - 7,485 7,485

Mayer Holdings Limited
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(b) Credit risk (cont'd)
The balance for long term receivables are considered high risk as
these investment companies are uncontactable and the Group
considered these loan made by the former management were
considered as deceitful acts and were reported to the Police
Department of Huangpu District, Guangzhou Municipality in May

5. WEEKRER @
(b) EEREE @

RABBREGHRRASEES AR

REERZERE QB K

CMAEE

BrZSHATEEBFRZERBR
TR LERZZ—N\NFEEBAEM

TEHEEAZRRE

2018.
Expected credit loss rate FEHRfEERSIE X % %
30 June 2022 = —&XA=+H 100 -
31 December 2020 —ECEFE+"A=+—H 100 =
Other
receivables
and amount
Long term due from
receivables Joint Venture Total
Hfth e TR IE
REKREE
REARE WA E¥ERIE “ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETT
Loss allowance at 1 January 2020, R_E_EBF—HF—H-
31 December 2020, —E-EFE+_H=+—H-
1 January 2021 and —=-—F—A—OK
30 June 2022 —E=——EAH=4A>
BEEIR 50,000 - 50,000
EEERARAR 115
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected

liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves

of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

HEERER @

(c) REIEERAK
AEETBELTHE
HELER URGEER TR S
B G R B E RS E SRR

R E A RFEER

term.
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: REFSHEBEZAHASHWT
Less than
1 year 2-5 years Total
DR —5F “EREF st
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TF T AR®TF T
At 30 June 2022 RZE__F,xA=+H
Borrowings B8 8,024 - 8,024
Trade and other payables B 5 & T BR AR EL A FE (T TR 18 107,073 - 107,073
Promissory notes ARER 146,323 - 146,323
261,420 - 261,420
At 31 December 2020 W2 EF+"HA=+—H
Borrowings BE 40,000 = 40,000
Trade and other payables B EMERRREMESRIE 78,063 = 78,063
Promissory notes AREE 137,029 = 137,029
255,092 - 255,092
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(d) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and borrowings.

Borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risks. Other bank deposits are
arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

At 30 June 2022, the Group has minimal exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group's operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

(f) Categories of financial instruments

5. WEEKRER @
(d) =@M
7 g [ PR AR > R R AL IR E B BT 7

HREE.

EEREENRZH S AEEARE
AREBFRIEER o HRITERUT
BRERH CEENAEYREHE
FIES

RZIE__FB=Z+H HREEE
ZIRERSRBXTAZSHIEHNERKE
HE, MAEEFRAS ZHEARIBE -

(e) 2sfEE
HEUHERRERARRZAERSRE
ERETHEEZRESHEEEZEZ
AEERE-

\

>

() TRMITAEER

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
e T
~NB=+H r=E ==
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at fair value through R AREBESIABRZZEHMEE
profit or loss = 19
Financial assets at amortised cost REBEN AT ECEMEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BERSXIVESEEIER) 343,498 364,443
Financial liabilities E =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEgER AT EZEMEE 256,991 245,066
EuERERAR

¥
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances
that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June 2022:

6. AREEE
ARBEATHSHERGEERETER
REHAHE -—BEEEMR KRNI EER—
BHEEMRXNZER UTREZAARE
Bt EMERAZARBEERKBUGFER
fbf‘%zﬁ@?ﬁzmzﬁgﬂ\%ﬂ? D = 8=

B—REAME

BTRBAME

BoMRBAME

FEETRFEE AW
BzHEFREENEER
BTG L2 RE CRE
HE) o

bR —MArBEZRE
S BERBBEZIEE
AEZRERMTAAH
o

EENBRZADTEHE
BABE-

FEBZBRANBESHABRALER
RZERRAEN—REARBELER

BAEMER -

() RZEBE-—FRA=Z+TANAAEEE

WIRE
Fair value measurements Total
RAEEFE “Et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
BE—4R B B=4 —=T-C
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETT ARSTT AR®BTT
Recurring fair value KEERAEBESE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value %2 AEE A
through profit or loss BREZEmMEE
— Put option — s hEARE - = = -
— Contingent consideration  —EW I RK(E
receivable - - - =
Total recurring fair value KEERDER
measurements 2405 - - = =

1 'I 8 Mayer Holdings Limited
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (cont’d) 6. AREBEE @
(cont’d) (a) &
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2020: N_E_EFE+_B=+—HHNARE
BEERIFEE
Fair value measurements Total
NABESE wast
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
B FR FE=4 T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®BT T AR®BTT AR®BTFT
Recurring fair value KEERABESE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value 2R ABESTA
through profit or loss BRzEmMEE
- Put option — s hEARE - - 19 19
- Contingent consideration ~ —FEW I IAR(E
receivable S S = =
Total recurring fair value BREERDER
measurements HE4R%E - - 19 19

(b)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on level 3:

(b) REE=HREANEEFEZEEHNK:

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
—E-C sl T b
~NA=+H == =r—E
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
At 1 January 2021/2020 R-E-—%F /"F-%F
—HB—H 19 7,570
Total loss recognised in profit or loss* X188 AMEE 2 A2 k518* (19) (7,551)
At 30 June/31 December RAB=+B/+ZBA=+—H - 19

*Include gains or losses for assets
held at end of reporting period

MERREHAREAZ
HEZ W@ EBIA

= (19)

The total loss recognised in profit or loss including those for assets
held at end of reporting period are presented in other net loss in the

statement of profit or loss.

RiEmAER 2 EHEE (BERREHAR
RFAEZBEEZBE REDERAZ E S
BIFERIT °

ETERAERAT
HZE202266 530 IH18E B 2 3 RE
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (cont’d)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation

120

techniques and inputs used in fair value measurements at 30 June

2022:

The Group’s directors are responsible for the fair value

measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial reporting

purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. Discussions

() ==

6. AREBEITE®@
——&EABA=+BAEEMIERA

ZHERFRAABESEREBZMG
BT R s A SR 2 BB

FEREEARVBERMBEZLEERK
BREANBESEES BES=ZHR2
AEBEEFE-MBREEREEgNGE

of valuation processes and results are held between the financial kit REEFETE LM TiH-o
controller and the board of directors at least twice a year.
Level 3 fair value measurements BRI EBEFE
Effect on
fair value Fair value Fair value
Valuation Unobservable for increase 30 June 31 December
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2022 2020
WA === - el
EMHAR ~A=+H +ZA=+—H
it il {E &Kl FAIERBA SR HE BEEZTE AREE ZARMEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBF
Put option Black Scholes Option  Risk free rate 1.91% Decrease
Pricing Model
o B MAOm—EFmETiAE EEREREA =R e
EBEN
Volatility 68.46% Decrease - 19
R e
Contingent Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 14.17% Decrease - =
consideration
receivable
FEU SN AAE MIRIRERE RGIR R e

Mayer Holdings Limited
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REVENUE

The Group’s revenue represents the aggregate of sales value of goods

7. W=
AEE UK AERS MRS &R I R

supplied and services provided to customers less goods returned and ZIHEBEBEREEREZITID - AEH

trade discounts. An analysis of the Group's revenue for the period/year ZH/ERKEDFAOT
are as follows:
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
B —% S
—HBA—HB=E —ETEH
—E_C +ZB=+—H
~B=+H EFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®ETFT
Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and THEHE il H R E MR G
other steel products 901,176 536,646
Urban renewal projects planning and W E IR B R E KA
consulting 1,476 44,466
902,652 581,112
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BEREHNNZmZHFED
1 January 2021 to Year ended

30 June 2022

31 December 2020

—E_—&%—-RA—HE BE-_T-THF
—E_"#5B=t+H +ZA=+—BLEE
Steel - PRC  Service - PRC Steel — PRC Service - PRC
- E BR#% — A E i —PE AR 75— R Bl
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR AREFT ARBTT
Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets  $HEHE A K&
and other steel products: Hia i
Indirect export sales BiZEOEeE 65,744 - 52,942 -
Domestic sales B E 793,028 - 454,416 -
Direct export sales BEREHOME 42,404 - 29,288 -
Urban renewal projects HHEHMIER
planning and consulting: RE K585
Consulting services HHRE - 1,476 = 44,466
Total st 901,176 1,476 536,646 44,466
Timing of recognition of revenue FEREL GH
from contracts with customers: Wi 2 B -
At a point in time BRI 901,176 - 536,646 -
Over time eS| - 1,476 = 44,466
901,176 1,476 536,646 44,466

EOERERAR 21
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122

REVENUE (cont’d)

Sales of steel pipes, steel sheets and other steel products
The Group manufactures and sells steel pipes, steel sheets and other
steel products to the customers. Sales are recognised when control of
the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered
to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products and the customer has obtained
legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 60 to 180
days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be required.
Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to the
customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

Consultancy services

Consulting income from urban renewal projects planning and consulting
is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.
The customers pay the consulting service fee to the Group according to
the payment schedules as stipulated in the contract.

Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022
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8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hthug A
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
e —fF 8=
—B—H=E EIEHF
—E__ +ZBA=+—H
~NA=1+H IEFEE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®TT AR®BTFT
Bank interest income IRITFI B WA 722 769
Government subsidy* IS 48 B 4,712 1,867
Scrap sales BERIEH & 18,344 8,037
Gain on lease modification HEETIE 73 -
Sundry income MW A 786 585
24,637 11,258

# The government subsidy was received from local government authorities for
supporting the Group’s operation and encouraging innovation of production

technology, of which the entitlement was unconditional.

9. OTHER NET (GAIN)/LOSS

#

EXFHAERLCERKBR N EERMME
75 BT 1 R B BT AR E AR SR T

EARF o

9. Hfth (W) #5HEFEE

1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
% BE
—A—BE=E —ETF
—Z-C +-B=+—H
~A=+H IFFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®BTT
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME -BEKREZEZ
plant and equipment B8 2% 638 318
Net exchange (gain)/loss B (e /B5 183 28 (507) 780
Change in fair value of financial assets BAREEFABRZZ
at fair value through profit or loss ETHMEEZ ANEEES 19 7,551
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment loss ~ E 3 EUWIRI R EtEWRIE
on trade and other receivables CRiE#E) RERE (2,675) 377
(2,525) 9,026

ETERAERAT 1 2 3
HZE202266 530 IH18E B 2 3 RE
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10.

124

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and geography.
In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the board of directors of the Company, being the Group's
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following two
reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to
form the following reportable segments.

—  Steel — PRC: this segment primarily derive its revenue from the
manufacture and trading of steel pipes, steel sheets and other
steel products. These products are manufactured in the Group’s
manufacturing facilities located in PRC.

— Service — PRC: this segment primarily derive its revenue from
urban renewal projects planning and consulting in Zhuhai City of
Guangdong Province of the PRC.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group's chief operating decision maker
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets with the
exception of corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities
including trade and other payables and borrowings managed directly by
the segments with the exception of corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. The measure used for
reporting segment profit is “EBIT” i.e. "earnings before interest and
taxes”.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning EBIT,
management is provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
net gain/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, impairment
loss on trade and other receivables, reversal of impairment loss on
trade and other receivables, write down of inventories, reversal of write
down of inventories, income tax expenses and additions to non-current

segment assets used by the segments in their operations.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided to
the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the period from
1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 and for the year ended 31 December
2020 is set out below:

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

10. D EPE R @
DWEE EERERE @)
B2 _-_—F—F—BEZZ_-"F,<A
—+RAEEREE—_E_EF+ A =1+—
HIEFE REFAEEEREERTEN
PERERAIGHOBRBZAEBRTEZRY
EE R ST

AR ERDBENHBEER - EEREEZ

HH

Sales of
Urban renewal steel pipes,
projects steel sheets
planning and and other
consulting  steel products Total
WHE HENE
EERE K # R REA
A 5 m st
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET ARETFT
1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 ZZ--Ff—-A—-REZZZ"ERA
=+H
Revenue et 1,476 901,176 902,652
Segment (loss)/profit D (B518) /BF (7,725) 36,464 28,739
Finance costs BEN (119) (4,123) (4,242)
Interest income FISWA - 721 721
Depreciation nE (31) (6,781) (6,812)
Amortisation s (1,298) (333) (1,631)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HENE \BERFZEZEE - (638) (638)
Change in fair value of financial assets BARBESABGZEHEEY
at fair value through profit or loss NABEES (19) = (19)
Share of loss of an associates i —RKE B2 B8 (225) - (225)
Income tax expense PGS - (5,452) (5,452)
Other material non-cash items: HtBAFHEEER !
Reserve of impairment on trade and B RURR R EH MR HE
other receivables BEGRE - (2,675) (2,675)
Additions to segment non-current assets REDHBERBDEE 2 13,817 13,819
At 30 June 2022 RZEZZEXA=+H
Segment assets NHEE 349,861 378,267 728,128
Segment liabilities ax: 5= 18,586 85,204 103,790
ETERERAE ’I 25
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

126

10. P EE K @

Segment results, assets and liabilities (cont’d) SUESE- - SEEREE @)
Sales of
Urban renewal steel pipes,
projects steel sheets
planning and and other
consulting steel products Total
R HEHE
EEREK # R/ R 2 A
s i st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETTT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2020: BE_Z_ZE+_A=Tt—HLEE:
Revenue Wz 44,466 536,646 581,112
Segment profit DEbER 34,703 39,078 73,781
Finance costs ,ﬁyﬁm (175) (2,053) (2,228)
Interest income FISWA 1 765 766
Depreciation nE (15) (3,162) (3,177)
Amortisation B (865) (222) (1,087)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - RERRHEZHE - (318) (318)
Share of losses of associates BEBEARZER (152) = (152)
Income tax expense i3 (9,526) (2,255) (11,781)
Other material non-cash items: HtEAFREEE !

Impairment on trade and other receivables BRRMRR R EMERSRERE - 374 374
Additions to segment non-current assets REDHERDEE 44 17,597 17,641
At 31 December 2020 RZ2ZEHE+ZA=+—H
Segment assets IHEE 348,829 406,974 755,803
Segment liabilities ax= 3=V 19,633 113,442 133,075

Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'd)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities:

10. D EPEF @)
T2MOEUE BFHGEE BER
& EHE:

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
e TETTF
~NA=+H +=ZBA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®BTFT
Profit or loss: R EGE -
Total profit of reportable segments A 2|0 EPEF) 42 %E 28,739 73,781
Corporate and unallocated loss rERRDEEE (37,558) (53,101)
Consolidated (loss)/profit for the B/ FRRa (B8 aF
period/year (8,819) 20,680
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments TERPHTEELEE 728,128 755,803
Corporate and unallocated assets TtERERDPEEE 33,745 18,784
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 761,873 774,587
Liabilities =K
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIE2RDEPERREE 103,790 133,075
Corporate and unallocated liabilities trERRDEER 174,569 146,413
Consolidated total liabilities meafien 278,359 279,488

Geographical information:

Since the Group's revenue and assets are derived from customers and
operations based in the PRC and accordingly, no further analysis of the
Group's geographical information is disclosed.

HIE L

A A0 B 2 Wt R AR B AP L
2EERER ML RRES EEEE
BZE— 5 i -

ETERAERAT 1 27
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 &2 —Z -~ F;xA=+HIE+/\{@H

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

10. P EE K @

Revenue from major customers: FTERRAUE :
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
% S
—HB—B=E —ECEH
2 +ZB=+—H
~A=+H IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR®FT

Sales of stel pipes, steel sheet and HEME il h RE MR RS E0
other steel products segment:

Customer A ERA - 64,469
No customer individually contributed 10% or more to the Group's _7_—£|E B—HE-E-__H,xBA=+

revenue for 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022.

* The revenue from this customer below 10% to the Group's revenue from the

period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022.

11.FINANCE COSTS

HEENERAEEEWEEM10%

L/U:O

B-E-_—&—-AB—RBE-Z-__&7A8
=+ HIAB REZERANWEEREER

Wz AYI10% ©

1. B

1 January Year ended

2021 to 31 December

30 June 2022 2020

== S

—HB—HE B CBHE

—E-—F +ZA=+—H

~B=+H LFE

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARBFT

Bank interest expenses RITHEMAX 3,877 1,920
Promissory notes interest AREEF LS 13,269 12,112
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMNEMX 135 273
Other finance charges HB %zt 634 137
17,915 14,442

1 28 Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FRISMEX
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
e —fF 8=
—B—H=E EIEHF
- +ZBA=+—H
~NA=1+H IEFEE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®TT AR®BTFT

Current tax BERFR IR

PRC corporation income tax E 2RISR 4,981 13,192
Over provision in prior years BEFEEBEERS - (1,488)
Withholding tax FER 471 236
5,452 11,940

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2020 as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate
of 25% (Year ended 31 December 2020: 25%) during the period.

During the period, Guangzhou Mayer, a core subsidiary of the Company
was accredited as a High and New Tech Enterprise. As being a High and
New Tech Enterprise, it was entitled to a reduced corporate income tax
rate of 15% for the period (Year ended 31 December 2020: 15%).

HE_S__FB=1+HLE+NEBKREH
ETZ_ZE+_A=+—HIEEE &
B mtIREAFER DHRNAEE T &
REBEETMERRER o

1R 5% 7P B P 15 7R 4R Bl Be oA 3R 0 H#A 9 o B B
BARZE®%2% (BEZZ - +°AH
=+—HIEEE 25%) 2MEBATE D E
Frig#ie

HAM » AN A B Z 10 Mt /B A B B N 5= 2 HE 5T
AEWMEMtE FA—RemEmtE 8
NEE15% HE_E_EF+_H=+—
HIEERE 1 15%) ZERBREEMBHREK

ETERAERAT 1 29
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

12.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’'d)

Additionally, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the PRC effective from 1 January 2008. A lower

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement

between the PRC and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing

in the relevant jurisdictions.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the profit before
tax multiplied by applicable tax rates is as follows:

12. ISR @

s A FTNE—A—Hi  TEmE
IMREETIRZREBARI0%ZRFNER
THe BB BIINEEEFEZREEES]
BEMBHEOZH ATERAREZINER

%:io

HMB A 2 MBI IZERBEEER 2R
’(Tﬁ S

{95038 2 SR IR AT 6 U T LUB A % 2 7R
SHRSMT

1 January Year ended

2021 to 31 December

30 June 2022 2020

e —F S

—B—HZ=E —ETTHF

- +ZB=+—H

~A=+H EFEE

RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARBTT

(Loss)/profit before tax BRI A (B518) & A (3,367) 32,620

Tax at the rates applicable to (loss)/profit ~ #ARMBERBERR (B18)

in the countries concerned Az MEFE NI (338) 10,198
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEAFRBAZRBEE (7)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AAMREASZ B E 8,654 4,794

Tax effect of tax concession MBEECRBRE (3,328) (1,800)

Over provision in prior years BEFEBEREE - (1,488)

Withholding tax kL 471 236

Income tax expense for the period/year H/ FEANREREX 5,452 11,940

Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

13.(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR 13.88 &F R (§518) &EF
The Group’s (loss)/profit for the period/year is stated after charging/ KREBZH FR (BB) /SH R0
(crediting) the following: Bt A) FH&IEEGEE ©
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
e —fF BZE
—B—H=E —ETTH
- +ZBA=+—H
~NB=+H EFEE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®BTF T
Auditor’s remuneration TZ B AT B =
— audit services — B 897 845
— other services —H MR 523 252
Cost of inventories sold* BEEFEEM A 783,941 460,795
Depreciation e 7.315 3,682
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERNE 2,050 1,783
Net exchange (gain)/loss ER (W) k5188 (505) 778
Expenses related to short-term lease FREATREAERMA X 285 523
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE B MEEZ
equipment B1E3EE 638 318
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments £ L7 (BIFEHHNS)
— Salaries, bonus and allowances —ErE ALY 71,013 42,230
— Retirement benefits scheme —RIRTEF] 5T BIHRR
contributions 9,026 2,035
80,039 44,265
ud Cost of inventories sold includes the followings which are also included in the # BEEEMASIETHRZIE (st A EXBIL
amounts disclosed separately above. WBEZEEA) o
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
g% BHE
—B—B% 3=
et +=A=+-~H
AA=+A R
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®ETT
Depreciation TEE 6,485 2,740
Staff costs BT 30,435 17,026

ETERAERAT 1 31
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 &2 —Z -~ F;xA=+HIE+/\{@H

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS UVEERESME
The emoluments of each director were as follows: REEZMSWT :
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
RIKEF
B5HE HERERE BE e it
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
30 June 2022 ZEITEABE=1H Kzt AE®TT ARBFRT ARBTT ARBFT
Executive Directors RITES
Mr. Xu Lidi Rkt a - 1,256 14 1,270
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FERKE - 760 - 760
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BHRLE - 659 - 659
Mr. Chen Zhirui SERE - 781 - 781
Dr. Cheung Ka Yue REMEL ¢ - 141 - 141
Mr. Xiao Libo HILRAE c - 327 - 327
Non-executive Directors ERTES
Mr. Wang Donggi IRFRE 158 - - 158
Mr. Lam Chung Chak WrRERE d 75 - - 75
Independent Non-executive BIFRTESR
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung 2EERSE 187 - - 187
Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen RERLE 110 - - 110
Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping, deceased BB Rttt b 31 - - 31
Mr. Chan Chun Kit BRIRGEEE ¢ 80 - - 80
Mr. Lu Jianping MERTEE e 57 - - 57
Total for the period from BZZ”Z—%—F—HEZ
1 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 ZRC"FRA=TH
(AR 2 485 698 3,924 14 4,636
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS MUVEEREEME @
(cont’d)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors’ and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
RIKER
b He R REGE st
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2020 “ZIEF+ZA=+-H ffz# ARETT NG S AEEFT NG S
Executive Directors RiITES
Mr. Xu Lidi ks a - 670 16 686
Mr. Lee Kwok Leung FERKE - 554 - 554
Mr. Zhou Shi Hao BREE - 424 - 424
Mr. Chen Zhirui TERE = 718 = 718
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Wang Donggi IRFAE 157 - - 157
Independent Non-executive BIFRTESR
Directors
Mr. Lau Kwok Hung ZEERSE 133 - - 133
Mr. Deng Shimin g G 8 - - 8
Mr. Cheung, Eddie Ho Kuen REERE 133 = = 133
Mr. Cheng Yuk Ping ERkEE b 126 - = 126
Total for the year ended HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—H
31 December 2020 s394 - His 557 2,366 16 2,939

ETERAERAT 1 3 3
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(cont’d)

Notes:

a Resigned on 3 December 2021

b Appointed as independent non-executive director on 21 January 2020,
redesignated to executive Director and appointed as Chairman on 15 January
2021 and deceased on 28 February 2021

C Appointed on 9 November 2021

d Appointed on 25 November 2021

e Appointed on 28 February 2022

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the period/year.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during 1 January 2021
to 30 June 2022 included four (Year ended 31 December 2020: four)
directors, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis above. The
emoluments of the remaining one (Year ended 31 December 2020: one)
individual are set out below:

UNEEREEMNE @

=
a RIB-_—S+°-A=ZHRfE

b MIZTZTHE—B-+—HEZEABILIF
HTEE R_BE_—F—B+HEBAHEHR
TEETEZEAER R_ZEZ—FZR
ZHN\HEEE

¢ RIBZ-—HF+—BhHEZE
d RIZZT—F+—AZ+HHESHE
e WMRIZE-_HE"A-+\HEZEF

B/ EATEEEREARERETAMNE
Z&Hko

N _E_—F—AB—HEZZEZZHA
=t+EfE AEERRLREFMATEE
mHa (BE_ZEZF+_"_A=+—HLHF
B ma) 8 BEMER EX2oTK
Mo P —R BEEZEZF+A=+—
HIEFE . —%) ALZMESHEIWT :

1 January Year ended

2021 to 31 December

30 June 2022 2020

—E- % )

—H—HZ=E T

g +ZBE=+—H

~NB=+H IHEE

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%BFw ARBTT

Basic salaries and allowances B & Rz 678 965
Retirement benefits scheme contributions B KEF] 5T 8 (K - -
678 965
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14.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(cont’d)

AR E M HRR M

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

UNEEREEMNE @

M FUTEE :

Number of individuals

A
1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
% BHZE
—RB—HE=E =
g +ZB=+—H
~NB=+H IFE
Emolument band: i & 25 -
Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 1 1

During the period/year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

15.DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of any dividend
in respect of the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 and year ended

31 December 2020.

16.(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB 14,304,000
for the period (year ended 31 December 2020: profit of approximately
RMB15,854,000) and the weighted average number of 2,158,000,000
ordinary shares (year ended 31 December 2020: 2,158,000,000 ordinary

shares) in issue during the period/year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is equal to basic (loss)/earnings per share
as there are no potential ordinary shares outstanding for period from 1
January 2021 to 30 June 2022 and year ended 31 December 2020.

15

16

B/ ER AEELREAERNEEIRSH
MALZAMEERMBAER ZFE3M
B R SRR E-

iRE
EERRETAERBE-E-_FXA
ZHELET\EARBE-SE-SF+_8
Zt-HiEEZEEARE.

=k (518) BF

SREX (558 &BF

SREX (BB /BANTSEREQATEE A
FE1L BRI S 1B 49 A R 1514,304,0007T (B E =
EIEEF+ZA=+—HIEEE HMOA
R #15,854,0007T) K FAE#ETZER
AT 5862,158,000,0000% (BE_E -
F+ZHA=+—HILFE : 2,158,000,0004%)
ER=

sSR#E (518 B
HRBE-_ZE_—&—HF—HE_ZFT__&5
B=tHLEHBERB&E_ZT_FTF+_4
S+ -—HEEEMESETEIZEBEEEE
B Rt EREE (BB BAESRER
(B518) /&FAEE o

ETERAERAT
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. %¥\@E&E‘Qﬁ
Furniture,
fixtures,
Land and Leasehold Plant and and office Motor  Construction
buildings improvements machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
i RER
1HREF  HENERE BERKEA WAZR RE HEIR @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR AEETR AEETR AEBTR AEEBTR AEEBTR AEBTR
At cost B
At 1 January 2020 RZZZZE-F-A 43,385 5,554 104,223 4,073 3,521 1,441 162,197
Additions RE = 194 - 438 1,095 17,403 19,130
Transfer ag - - 15,621 337 = (15,959) 5
Disposals e - - (2,559) (145) (232) - (2,936)
Exchange differences EREE - (1) = 2) (114) = (117)
At 31 December 2020 RIBZZE+IR=1-H
and 1 January 2021 RZEZ-£-8-H 43,385 5,747 117,285 4,701 4270 2,886 178,274
Additions HE - 2,956 470 3 - 10,390 13,819
Transfer ag - - 3,165 164 105 (3.434) 5
Disposals e - - (410) - - - 410)
Witten off s - - (6,073) (143) (888) - (7,104)
Exchange differences EREE - - - - 39 - 39
At 30 June 2022 RZBZZFxBZ+H 43,385 8,703 114,437 4,725 3,526 9,842 184,618
Accumulated depreciation  E3HiE
At 1 January 2020 RZFZ5E-F-A 36,368 4,207 84,275 3216 1,489 - 129,555
Charge for the year ER%H 687 26 1,952 246 571 = 3682
Disposal e - - (2,178) (130) (82) = (2,390)
Exchange differences EREE - 0] - 0] (53) = (59)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZERE+ZF=1+-A
and 1 January 2021 RZE_-£-f-H 37,055 4432 84,049 3331 1,925 - 130,792
Charge for the period Bz 906 309 5,140 406 554 - 7315
Disposals HE - - (118) - - - (118)
Written off it = = (5,465) (128) (810) - (6,403)
Exchange differences EREE - - - 4 - - 4
At 30 June 2022 RZEZZERA=1A 37,961 4,741 83,606 3,613 1,669 - 131,590
Carrying amounts kEsH
At 30 June 2022 KIE_ZERR=1H 5,424 3,962 30,831 1,112 1,857 9,842 53,028
At 31 December 2020 RIEZEE+°A=1-A 6,330 1315 33,236 1,370 2,345 2,886 4748
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

18.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EFHEEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: THEEREBEERE
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
~NA=1+H +ZA=+—H
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®BTFT
At 30 June/31 December: WARB=+H /+ZH=+—H:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
- Land and buildings — T REF 5,377 7,820
5,377 7,820
The maturity analysis, based on AEBERRMRAES R
undiscounted cash flows, of the HEaBEIHE2UT :
Group's lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year — bR —&F 206 1,678
— Between 1 and 2 years ——EWMF - 917
206 2,595
Period from 1 January 2021 to BZZ-—f—H—HZ%
30 June 2022/year ended “E--EXBA=+HILEES
31 December 2020: BE_E_FF+_-_B=+—H
LHEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEITES H
- Land and buildings — T REF 2,050 1,783
Lease interests HEHN S 135 273
Expenses related to short-term lease FREATREAERM 285 523
Total cash outflow for leases HERE MR 1,887 1,719

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease agreements are AEEBRLZRIMEZSEET - FHERZ
Z HAHHIE B R 24 o 1 B R R B BB T bE
& BREEZREAR Z R - HE
B IEMEE MEEEENSRE
BEZ i

typically made for fixed periods of 2 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

ETERAERAT
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 &2 —Z -~ F;xA=+HIE+/\{@H

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. R—HBEAT 2 Em

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
~NB=+H +=ZBA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETF T

Unlisted investments FELmEE
— Share of net assets —EFEE 161,771 161,996
Goodwill BmE 47,339 47,339
209,110 209,335

Details of the Group's associates at 30 June 2022 and 31 December RE-__FRXAB=+HARER_E_FF+_
2020 are as follows: B=+—BH A&EBBERB ZFBENT !
Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/ interest
incorporation/ paid-up held by the Principal
Name registration capital Company activities
/NS
sk, B#1T BEAHEED
RaE = fift it B4 BERA BOlE FEEH
Zhuhai Hua Fa Yue Tang Property the People Republic Registered capital of 49% Land redevelopment
Development Limited* of China ("PRC") RMB10,000,000
KREEZAEFEREARRAA
KREEZREEERZLRRAT REARHEMNE EMER 49%  THEMER
(TR E)) AR #10,000,0007%

Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (cont’d)

The following table shows information of an associate that are material

to the Group. This associate is accounted for in the consolidated

financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial

information presented is based on the HKFRS financial statements of the

19. N—RHBEATIZED @

fe ZEZ AR BB EZN G HFREN
SIER -FR2F M HERBMEND UZEHMER
ARBEEBYBEREEMERZMBRE

associates. AiKiE o
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
== TETRE
~NB=+H +=ZB=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TF T
Non-current assets ERBEE 438,713 438,766
Current assets MENE E 995 1,402
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (109,564) (109,564)
Current liabilities MEIEE - =
Net assets BEEFE 330,144 330,604
Group's share of net assets KEERELFEE 161,771 161,996
Period from 1 January 2021 to B-ZE-_—f—H—HE
30 June 2022/year ended ZEZZFXA=+H
31 December 2020 IEHR, BE—S &
+ZB=+—HLEE
Revenue W - -
Loss for the period/year A,/ EREE (461) (309)

*  For identification purpose only

* EHRAT

ETERAERAT 1 39
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

20.INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

20 REEEEZIER

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
~NB=+H +=ZBA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETF T
Unlisted investments FELTRE
— Share of net assets —EFEE 50,971 50,971
Less: Impairment B RE (50,971) (50,971)

I

Details of the Group’s joint ventures at 30 June 2022 and 31 December

140

2020 are as follows:

T TERB=ZTHEZEIEF+T

B=1+—RH xEEGETLEZFBUT:

Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/ Group's interest
incorporation/ paid-up effective held by the Principal
Name registration capital interest Company activities
AT M
B81T/ sEEZ ERRRER
g SERBRIL, 5L it 2 BRRE BR#EE BAL XEBEH
KERBAEMEBENERAR the People Republic of Registered 50.02% - Real estate development
China ("PRC") capital of services
RMB500,000
hEANRHMNE (hE)) HRERARE EHESRRH
500,0007%
Glory World Development Limited the British Virgin Islands 21,200,000 ordinary 49.80% 49.80% Investment holdings
shares of USD1 each
KERUER 21,200,000 & 5 REER
ABIETZEER
Sinowise Development Limited the British Virgin Islands 9,000,000 ordinary 49.80% - Trading of coal
shares of USD1 each
EBELEE 9,000,000 & HEES
AEIEZTZERR
Elternal Galaxy Limited the British Virgin Islands 12,100,000 ordinary 49.80% - Trading of iron
shares of USD1 each
EBEUHE 12,100,000 8 & HEER
ABIETZEER
Grace Capital Group Limited Samoa 1 ordinary share of 49.80% - Inactive
usb1
BELHES IREBIZTZ MEEE
EER

Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

20.INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (cont'd) 20.

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the

21.

amounts of individually immaterial joint venture that are accounted for

using the equity method.

MREETEZIER @
TR BT R A BE 2 A E AR (B R R

BEREEREZBE-

30 June 31 December

2022 2020

—E__ ZEIEE

~B=+H +ZB=+—H

RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR®TT AR®BTFT

Carrying amounts of interest R REEER - =

Period from 1 January 2021 to B2 —H—HF—H=
30 June 2022/year ended TR HEANA=ZTHIEHEES
31 December 2020 BE_Z_EF+_HA=+—H
IEEE

Loss for the period/year B ERNEE - 449

Other comprehensive income HihemEmlm - =

Total comprehensive income T EW T AEEE - 449

The accumulated losses not recognised were approximately

RMB2,333,000 (2020: RMB808,000).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

AR RFEBEEBOA AEK2,333,0007T
(ZE-ZF : ARE¥808,0007T) ©

N BAARBEAABRGZEHMEE

30 June 31 December

2022 2020

S5 —=-=f

~B=+H +ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARBTFT

Contingent consideration receivable FEWL S AL B = =
Put option Soh AR - 19
- 19

ETERAERAT 141
HZE202266 530 IH18E B 2 3 RE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R Y EE

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

22.INVENTORIES 2.8
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
~NB=+H +=ZBA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETF T
Raw materials R #t 28,449 43,533
Work-in-progress TRE 1,247 1,386
Finished goods &l 62,598 37,762
Goods-in-transit TREm 1,249 4,954
93,543 87,635

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. B 5 [E W AR wR e HLfth FE WA mR IR

30 June 31 December

2022 2020

~NB=+H +=ZB=+—H

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBETT AR®TF T

Trade receivables B 5 AR 195,599 220,256
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B RIREE (2,397) (5,072)
193,202 215,184

Bills receivables &R =5 4,414 16,564
Prepayment and other deposit AN RIERE ML E 150,602 145,488
Other receivables Hihg W Ia 18,148 6,434
Amount due from joint venture FEW & E EMIE 1,248 1,051
367,614 384,721

Trade receivables are due within 60 to 180 days from the date of billing
and may be extended to selected customers depending on their trade
volumes and settlement with the Group. Debtors with balances that are
more than 6 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does

not obtain collateral from customers.

1 42 Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 23. g%ﬂ%u&,ﬂﬁﬁ&ﬁf‘lﬂﬂgu&?ﬂlﬁ
(4&)
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on invoiced date, and net BoEWESINGEEURE[AHRAEE Y
of allowance, is as follows: EREC D ATIOT -

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
== TETRE
~NA=1+H +ZA=+—H
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREFT
0 to 30 days 0E30K 41,900 104,402
31 to 60 days 31E60Xk 33,739 46,642
61 to 90 days 61E90K% 20,630 32,743
91 to 180 days 91F 180K 21,366 23,616
Over 180 days #B48180K 75,567 7,781
193,202 215,184

Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables: B EIWNBR IR E - HER -
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
—E-C B EF
~NA=+H P S =g e
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®T T
At 1 January nw—RB—H 5,072 4,695
Allowance for the period/year A EREE (2,675) 377
At 30 June/31 December BAA=+8B /+ZA=+—8H 2,397 5,072

ETERAERAT 1 43
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont'd) 23. B FEUNERFR R H fth FE WL 7R 1A
(&)
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for AREBERAESEVHRESEDFEIGE 1L
expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision for all Hét o MFrEBZEWERNERE 2 ETERRE
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables BRETIETEREEEERE Ast=TE8H
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the EEFE BEERWEFCDRAREE R
days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward YRR REN A FBHESEETES
looking information. BIBEMEE R o
Over Over Over
30 days 60 days 120 days
Current past due past due past due Total
il bk bl
B8R Bi#30% BiB60% Bi#120% st
At 30 June 2022 RZEZZHXA=+A
Weighted average expected loss rate M HBABEEX - 1% 1% 2%
Receivable amount (RMB) EWIESEE (ARET) 41,900 34,080 20,838 98,781 195,599
Loss allowance (RMB) BEEE ARBD) - 341 208 1,848 2,397
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZZH+-A=+—H
Weighted average expected loss rate METHRRGEEX 1% 1% 2% 23%
Receivable amount (RMB) FRESE (ARED) 195,071 7,204 3,743 14,238 220,256
Loss allowance (RMB) BiREE (AR%T) 1,651 72 75 3,274 5,072
24.LONG TERM RECEIVABLES 24, REAME W FRIR
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
- T
~NB=+H +ZBA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Long term receivables R WA 50,000 50,000
Less: allowance for doubtful debts A REREME (50,000) (50,000)
The amounts were deposited into certain investment companies which ZEFEEFEAETERENT  AEILH 1%
are unsecured, interest bearing with an effective interest rate ranged NFIS%ENBZERNEFE WERZ
from 9.5% to 11% and repayable in January 2020. Full impairment ETEBF-—HER -ANZEKE AT K
of RMB50,000,000 was recognised during the period/year as these MAEBERAZERIIEERBIEHEZER
investment companies are uncontactable and the Group considered these BHsFETA UER _E—NERZBREM
loan made by the former management were considered as deceitful TEBEAZERE  MAEENEE ER
acts and were reported to the Police Department of Huangpu District, R 2 EURE A RH50,000,0007T ©
Guangzhou Municipality in May 2018.
144 Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
As at 30 June 2022, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately RMB30,128,000 (31
December 2020: approximately RMB32,503,000). Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control

Regulations.

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

5. HEREZEEHER
RZE_—_EXA=Z+tH &@LU A
REFEZROTABREEHFOABARE
30,128,000t (ZE-EF+_-_H=+—8:
# ANE%32,503,0007T) - AR ERIAA I
7R T P B A BE B IR AR A o

26. B 5 & (3 AR mR e H At & {3 =R IR

30 June 31 December
2022 2020
e TETTF
~NA=1+H +ZBA=+—H
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBTT AR®BTFT
Trade payables B 5 ETER a 38,370 38,189
Other payables HAE I 50,582 39,045
Receipt in advance related to BRABTENREEN
urban renewal projects AW RIE 10,188 -
Consideration for Shenzhen Hei AINEZAERMBR *
Jing Photo electric Technology REIZHRE
Co., Limited 5,301 -
Dividend payable FEfT RS B 2,632 829
Contract liabilities s8R b 8,374 20,686
115,447 98,749
*  The amount consideration for disposal of Hei Jing and reference to * HEZEMREBELERRRFAFE  F2H

outstanding litigation details refer to note 34.

a Trade payables

The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on invoice date, is as

BffzE34 o

a BHEMEERWR

BSRENERIAUNERAPARSEEZIRE

follows: AT :
30 June 31 December

2022 2020

—E== T

~NB=+H +—HA=+—8H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT AERET T

0 to 30 days 0&E30K 23,295 18,927
31 to 60 days 31E60% 5,908 3,134
61 to 90 days 61F90% 566 264
91 to 180 days 91E180K 1,008 6,299
181 to 365 days 181F 365K 3,256 2,369
Over 365 days #BiB365K 4,337 7,196
38,370 38,189

ETERERAE 'I 45
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 &2 —Z -~ F;xA=+HIE+/\{@H

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d)

26. & 5 & (3 AR mR e Hth & (9 "R IR

146

b Contract liabilities

(48)

b &X&RE

As at As at As at
30 June 31 December 1 January
2022 2020 2020
R-EB__F RNWIZTEHF R_E_BF
~NB=+H +ZBE=+—H —HA—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR AREBTT ARBTT
Manufacturing and sales of BIERINENE A &
steel pipes, steel sheets and Hhiga g
other products made of steel 8,374 20,686 18,578
2022 2020
—FC TECEHF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREF T
Revenue recognised in the period/year FE§/ E#tAGHERBZ
that was included in contract B/ FREERE
liabilities at beginning of period/year 18,625 18,388
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the period/ SHEBENEE FRZEKRES
year:
2022 2020
—E_C _ECEHE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR#FT
Increase due to operations R REFH MG
in the period/year 6,313 20,496
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue EESOEEERR 18,625 18,388

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer products
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customers.

Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

27.BORROWINGS 27. 88
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
—EZC TETRE
~NA=+H +=ZB=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TF T
Bank borrowings — unsecured IRITEE—mIKH - 40,000
Other borrowings — unsecured HEE—mIgH 7,637 =
7,637 40,000
The borrowings are repayable as follows:  fEEEEZIT :
On demand or within one year BERFN—FRN 7,637 40,000
In the second year REZFE - =
7,637 40,000
Less: Amount due for settlement B R1I2EBENEIEEEZSEE
within 12 months (7,637) (40,000)
Amount due for settlement after R1I2EBBHREEZERE
12 months - -
The average interest rates were as follows: EHFEROT -
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
—EZC BT
NA=+H =LA =F=[E
Bank borrowings — unsecured IRITBE—EIKIN N/A FiEHA 4.35% —5.22%
Other borrowings — unsecured HMEE —mIigH 8% - 10% N/A 3

All borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk.

FRERENRERS RAEEEEEAAE

BEFERLE-

ETERAERAT
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

28.

29.

148

PROMISSORY NOTES

Upon the completion date of the acquisition of Happy (Hong Kong)
New City Group Limited on 26 November 2019,
issued Promissory Notes (“"PN") to a Company owned by a

the Company

substantial shareholder of the Company with a principal amount of
HK$158,000,000 as a part of the settlement of the consideration.
The PN are interest bearing at 3% p.a. payable semi-annually and the
maturity date is in 2 years from the date of issue. The fair value of PN at
issuance was assessed as approximately HK$136,090,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB122,260,000) by an independent valuer.The effective
interest rate is 10%.

Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated 11 March 2022
(the "Supplement Agreement”), the Company, the vendor, the
guarantor have agreed to extend the period for the meeting the target
profit generated by Happy (Hong Kong) New City Group Limited and its
subsidiary for 18 months to 30 June 2023. As a result of the extension,
the maturity date of the promissory note will be extended to 30
September 2023. The Supplemental Agreement constitute connected
and major transactions under Listing Rule and subject to the approval of
the independent shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting to be
held.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer makes contributions
to the scheme at 5% and employees are required to make 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various defined
contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised by local authorities
for the Group’s employees in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the
Plans. The Group has no other obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with these Plans beyond the annual contributions
described above.

Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022

28. AR EE

29

R TE-NF+—B -+ NHEl B R
(B HETEREEERARDZH &
AEA—HEEARBDITERFEFTZAT
§§?f$$§§%158,000,000}%77527?@?#5
(TRREHE) FRAREZHD IR &
?E;‘T‘é?‘%?ﬁfﬁﬂ$3%§+%”éfﬁﬁ/@%——/\’
A ABETHRAESME - ARRE
RETHZARBER BB ILGEERMT
E#%3136,090,0008 7 (HHERHARE
122,260,0007T) e BEF]ZEZ10% °

BIERBEA - __F=-B+—BZ@HxH

# (HRmE)  ~28 -BH ERAERE
EREMRRE (BB T EREEER

REREMB AT FTES B BEAHARIE
RISEBE_E_=F/,"BA=+H BRI
H ARERZIBHBERE S =F
NWA=Z+tH -#HRBEER LTRUBETZ
MERXGREIER S BRBIKRERENE

BITHNRRFHI ARG ERE

BRABHEE
BERAKEF
FERRBEBERFMERABZAIEMS
EEMBECEREERLBHMEAEERE
(MRFEEFE ) - BB HHBIET
A%ﬁZE@ﬁﬁﬂ%%%OE#ﬁf%%
»EEREEMRBARAZS %M B HNR
ﬁ@sﬁﬁ&%ﬂ¥’§ﬁm%WAt@%
30,0007 7T © A 5+ B £F B 2 58 il 14 7R B B
BB

EREEMRILZMB AR R AEERTEE
E2nih 5 AR 2 TEEBRHTCR NG
B ((ZEE) -MBEADARRESRS
HEETAE LM ZSHBEHMR - BFLAE
FEAERRON - A0 0 S H M B 52 5 St B AR R
ZRARERAAREE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR E M HRR M

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

30.LEASE LIABILITIES

30. fHE&E

Lease payments

Present value of

lease payments

HERE HERERE
30 June 31 December 30 June 31 December
2022 2020 2022 2020
—EIEF —ECEF
—E2-- +—-—B Z=Z=E== +—H
NA=+H =+—H A~BA=+H =+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETRE ARBTT AR®ETRE AR®TT
Within one year — &R 206 1,678 203 1,536
In the second to fifth years, BF_EERE
inclusive (BEEEME) - 917 - 885
206 2,595
Less: Future finance charges RIS (3) (174)
Present value of lease liabilities HESGHRE 203 2,421 203 2,421
Less: Amount due for settlement 78 : R12EB R ERFE
within 12 months 28 GIRREEE
(shown under current BT)
liabilities) (203) (1,536)
Amount due for settlement R1I2EBEIAEEEEE
after 12 months - 885
EuERERAR 'I 49
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

31.SHARE CAPITAL 31. B&
Number
of shares Amount
KHER Eof L]
‘000 RMB’'000
The ARBTT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.2 each at RZZZZEF—HF—H-
1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, _g_gﬂfﬂ—_ﬁ =+—8-
1 January 2021 and 30 June 2022 —E—4%—HF—Hk
B _HFXB=+H
SRMEEC.2ETZEER 4,000,000 724,843
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 ﬁ“iﬁ*ﬁiﬂ'*ﬁ =+—8-
and 30 June 2022 E—4%—HB—8k
B2 HFRA=1H 2,158,000 391,760

Note:

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling
assets to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated
as total debts less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, non-controlling interests,
accumulated losses and other reserves).

1 50 Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022
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31.

32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BB RMEE

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

31. &7 @)

BRERRZEERBLERNT

30 June 31 December

2022 2020

~NA=1+H +ZA=+—H

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR®BTFT

Total debt BFSARER 149,918 167,003
Less: cash and cash equivalents B REAREEEES (33,201) (37,575)
Net debt B35 116,717 129,428
Total equity “arE 483,514 495,099
Net debt-to-capital ratio FEBHEALLE 24% 26%

The decrease in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during 2022 resulted

primarily from the net cash used in operations.

RESERVES

32. M

(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are

presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

(b) Reserves of the Company

e

(b) EABIfHE

g A
Iz

BHEHERABREARLERN T " F &
FTEHRNEEMBZRE PRI -

(a) *EBERFBEEBREZINGIERR

Hofth 2w W = MUK EmEHRE

Foreign
currencies
Share Special translation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
15 18 BRItk SMBRERE REtESHE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETR ARETT AREFT
At 1 January 2020 RZEZTF—F—H 213,309 125,211 (46,978) (351,970) (60,428)
Loss for the year EWE&'?@ - - - (9,000) (9,000)
Exchange difference MEMBERREZNES
on translation of B ERER
financial statements to
presentation currency - - (18,769) - (18,769)
At 31 December 2020 A
+ZB=+—H 213,309 125,211 (65,747) (360,970) (88,197)
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-_—-%—HF—H 213,309 125,211 (65,747) (360,970) (88,197)
Loss for the period HAREE - - - (13,249) (13,249)
Exchange difference MENBRREZNNEE
on translation of B/ ERES
financial statements to
presentation currency - - 3,579 = 3579
At 30 June 2022 RZEZZHAB=1H 213,309 125,211 (62,168) (374,219) (97.867)
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

4 AL

nis

32.RESERVES (cont'd)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

52

(i)

(ii)

Share premium account
The application of the share premium account is governed by
the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands.

Under the Companies Acts of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company are distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the paid-in capital
of the Company of 1 share of HK$0.1 each and the special
reserve of RMB83,570,000 arising from exchange of 1 share of
the Company of HK$0.1 for the entire share capital of Bamian
pursuant to the reorganisation scheme dated 12 December
2003 less distribution of final dividends of RMB12,000,000 and
RMB4,000,000 for the years ended 31 December 2004 and
2005 respectively.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange for the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries and the value of the underlying assets of the
subsidiaries pursuant to the group reorganisation on 12
December 2003.

Mayer Holdings Limited
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - _&/,xB=+HIE+/N\EA

32.RESERVES (cont'd) 32. /MR @
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (cont’d) () HEZHEEEBN (@)
(i) Statutory surplus fund (iii) EEAEZ

The Articles of Association of Guangzhou Mayer requires the
appropriation of 10% of its profit after taxation, based on its
statutory audited accounts, each year to the statutory surplus
reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
According to the provision of the Articles of Association of
Guangzhou Mayer, in normal circumstances, the statutory
surplus reserve shall only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into registered capital and expansion of the
production and operation of Guangzhou Mayer. For the
capitalisation of statutory surplus reserve into registered capital,
the remaining amount of such reserve shall not be less than
25% of the registered capital.

(iv) Statutory public welfare fund

Pursuant to the PRC Company Law, Guangzhou Mayer shall
make allocation from its profit after taxation at the rate of
5% to 10% to the statutory public welfare fund, based on its
statutory audited accounts. The statutory public welfare fund
can only be utilised on capital items for employees’ collective
welfare. Individual employees only have the right to use these
facilities, the titles to which will remain with the Company. The
statutory public welfare fund forms part of the shareholders’
equity but is non-distributable other than in liquidation. With
effect from 1 January 2006, the appropriation is not a statutory
requirement in accordance with the PRC Company Law (2006
Amendment). Guangzhou Mayer adopted the amended
Company Law and no appropriation was made.

(v) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 3.
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33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE B.ERBZHBRAER

COMPANY
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
~NB=+H +=ZBA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETF T
Non-current assets EREEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 418
Investments in subsidiaries PRBARZEKE 113,811 112,353
113,811 112,771
Current assets MEEE
Deposit, prepayments and other receivable %% ~ T8t 738 & H th FE W 718 58,123 49,861
Due from subsidiaries FE W 8 A BRI 136,820 157,438
Cash and cash equivalents e RBEEEER 562 1,165
195,505 208,464
Current liabilities ik =R
Other payables HAE (1A 7.750 17,187
Due to subsidiaries BB ARRE 36 47
Lease liabilities HEaE - 438
Borrowings B8 7.637 -
15,423 17,672
Net current assets MEEERE 180,082 190,792
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERRSHEME 293,893 303,563
NET ASSETS BEEE 293,893 303,563
Capital and reserves A Rt 1
Share capital & 7 391,760 391,760
Reserves B (97,867) (88,197)
TOTAL EQUITY R 293,893 303,563

1 54 Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR E M HRR M
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34.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Writs of summons against the Company

On 29 March 2012, writs of summons were issued by Capital Wealth
Finance Company Limited and Capital Wealth Corporation Limited
against the Company to claim the sum of HK$15,500,000 plus relevant
legal costs incurred/to be incurred. The Company intends to contest the
claim. In the directors’ opinion, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have
a material impact on the Group’s financial position.

Dispute on diposal of Hei Jing

On 9 February 2022, a former director of the Company who is also
the former director of certain subsidiaries in the PRC using suspected
forgery seal entered an agreement with other parties to disposal of 51%
equity interest in Hei Jing at cash consideration of RMB5.3 million. The
consideration was received on 1 February 2022 and 31 March 2022 and
the registration of the ownership of the equity interest was changed to
purchaser on 14 February 2022. After the removal of the former director,
the board of directors of the Company carried out the review of the
transaction. The directors of the Company considered the consideration
of the Disposal were too low and unfair and the Group would suffer
significant loss upon the Disposal. In the view of the directors of the
Company, the Disposal is unenforceable. Therefore, the Group instigated
a legal action to rescind the agreement and resume the ownership of the
51% equity interest in Hei Jing. Legal action is processing and outcome is
uncertain.

34. X AEE

HAEAQFTEHZERNSK

A TSR+ hH BERMBAER
REREREAERARAHBEAATELE
ALk LLEEER 15,500,000 T2 FE > B0
BRY/ BRBRZAENE AATREH
RIREMBEERA RRET WA BF
BHAEB B RNERERTE-

ARLERRZUSL

RS- _F_RBAB ARE—RAIES
(hBPEETHBABZAES) AW
BREHEREMA LTI HBE UBRE
ARBARKES,300,000 T HERERMN51%
BE - RBERN _E__#_F—BK_Z
TIFEZR=1+—HEE REEEREER
ERZEIFEATHHEEAER P
AETEEHEREE AR ETEHEZRS
ETBE - ARREERA HESTEBEZRE
BEERFAAT HEEFHEEAEERLES
BARBR-AABEERA HESENLAA
BT oA EBEHE L RITE BERELLEZH
BUMENRRERZNS1%REZFEEE LR
TENEMREBET SR IEE -

ETERAERAT 155
HZE202266 530 IH18E B 2 3 RE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e IR R Y EE

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

35.NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 5. 48 RERERME
FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities EEBFRELESEZE
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising from TRETH FRAXNEERETHAELES
financing activities during the period/year: B & .
Promissory Lease
notes liabilities Borrowings Total
REE HEaE (1= Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETT AREFR AREFRT
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZ5—-F—H 122,677 3,924 78,139 204,740
Changes in cash flows RERELH S (1,719) (38,139) (39,858)
Interest paid BAFE - - (2,057) (2,057)
Non-cash changes EREEH
~ interest charged -FIEZH 12,112 273 2,057 14,442
- exchange difference -ERER (7,786) (57) - (7,843)
At 31 December 2020 and R_EZEE+"A=+—H
1 January 2021 kZZEZ-%—F—H 127,003 2,421 40,000 169,424
Changes in cash flows RERELH - (1,887) (32,363) (34,250)
Interest paid BAFES - - (4,511) (4,511)
Non-cash changes FEREEH
— Interest charged —FEZH 13,269 135 4,511 17,915
— Lease modification —HEE:T - (466) - (466)
- exchange difference -EREH 2,009 - - 2,009
At 30 June 2022 RIEZZHXA=+H 142,281 203 7,637 150,121

1 56 Mayer Holdings Limited
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36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a. In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no other transactions with its related parties during the
period/year; and

b. Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and certain of
the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 14 is as follows:

36. BB 53X 5

Brim & B 75 R R EL A B8 0 P4 B8 2 A ke
BR S REERIN REBREFRNIL
BERBSETHMNORS &

FEETBZEEABZHM (BENE
AR BERARBEERETRSHIE
EXftzE8) W

1 January Year ended
2021 to 31 December
30 June 2022 2020
—E—F BHE
—B—H=E —ETEH
- +ZB=+—H
~NA=+H IEFEE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®BT T
Salaries and other short-term e kEMEHRES RN
employee benefit 5,538 3,578
Retirement scheme contribution RIRET B 14 16
5,552 3,594
ETERERAE 'I 57
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2022 HE_—ZT - "&£, xA=+HIE+/\EA

37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

37. X EMB AT

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the end of reporting period RIEHRZTERNBATZBNT -
are as follows:
Percenta%e of ownership
Particulars of issued
Place of and paid-up capital Principal
Name of company incorporation E',?éf:)i‘z Directlg Indirectg activities
AR LAk T2 2 BRRARHE B A TEEH
Bamian Investments Pte. Limited Singapore 16,829,670 ordinary 100% S Investment holdings
7 N shares of SGD1 each 7
BRRERRAR g 16,829,6700% SR E (B 157 100% - REER
Mgz EBE
Guangzhou Mayer Corporation Limited the People Republic of Registered capital of S 81.4% Manufacturing of steel pipes
("Guangzhou Mayer")* g_hina ("PRC") RMB200,000,000 gnd other products
BEMNEZRAERA (TEMEE)) FEARENE AEMEAARE - 81.4%  HEHERHEMER
(TehE)) 200,000,0007%
Elate Ample Limited the British Virgin Island 50,000 ordinary shares of 100% S Investment holdings
("BVI") USD1 each .
HBREYES 50,0008 & Hﬂ@%n 100% - REZK
(EBRZER) =k
Fulland (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 1 ordmary share of S 81.4% Investment holdings
HK$1 each
g4 (FB) BRAA &E REEIATZERR - 81.4%  HELRR
Happy (Hong Kong) New City the British Virgin Island 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100% Investment holdings
Group Limited ("BVI") USD1 each )
RBRUHS 10,000 ERAEIET - 100%  REZR
(EERREHE)) ZEBRBR
Galaxy Peace Holdings Limited the British Virgin Island 10,000 ordinary shares of - 81.4% Investment holdings
("BVI") USD1 each )
RBRUHS 10,000 EREAEEIET = 81.4%  RERR
(EERREHE)) ZEBRR
Happy (Hong Kong) New City Hong Kong 7,000,000 ordinary share - 100% Investment holdings
Group Limited . of HK$1 each )
RE (BB WETEREBBRAT  BE 7,000,000 &R E1E - 100%  REZR
T2 BB
KERLELERERRAE the People Republic of Registered capital of - 100% Business and economic
China ("PRC") RMB30,000,000 consultmg \
FE\RHAE AMERARE - 100%  EBREELH
(TehE)) 30,000,0007%
KEREBTERERAR the People Republic of Registered capital of - 100% Urban renewal project
China ("PRC") RMB10,000,000 planning and consultin
FEAREANE HAMERARE - 100% W EHMIEE RE K
(TehE)) 10,000,0007%
KERERHEBRERAR the People Republic of Registered capital of - 100% Real estate development
China ("PRC") RMB10,000,000 services
FEAREANE HAMERARE = 100% BHEZERY
(TehE)) 10,000,0007%
BENTEEEERRAR the People Republic of Registered capital of - 100%  Trading of steel pipes
China ("PRC") RMB10,000,000 and other products
FEAREANE HAMERARE = 100% EENEREMER
(TehE)) 10,000,0007%
FFRBAERMERAE the People Republic of Registered capital of - 100%  Trading of electric and
China ("PRC") RMB29,411,800 other products
FEAREANE HAMERARE = 100% BEEETRHEMER
(TehE)) 29,411,8007T
AIEEHMEERAH the People Republic of Registered capital of - 100%  Trading of steel pipes and
China ("PRC") RMB10,000,000 other products
FEAREANE AfMEAARE - 100% BEEMERHAMER
(TehE)) 10,000,0007%

g Registered under the law of the PRC as a Sino foreign equity joint venture

enterprise

Mayer Holdings Limited
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37.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd) 37.
The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NICI"”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

38.

FTEWBAE @
TRETEANAEEBE A FERER
(TIEERRHE RS ) = B B A B1 k) o FR A A
HERSR AT R EA S5 o

eliminations.
Name %18 Guangzhou Mayer
BEMEEE
30 June 31 December
2022 2020
—EICHE ZEITHF
~NA=1H +ZB=+—H
Principal place of business/country FEEEMB EMAIER PRC PRC
of incorporation A FE
% of ownership interests/voting RSP REE R
rights held by NCI RAEBDLE 18.6% 18.6%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
At 30 June/31 December: WARB=+H /+ZH=+—H:
Non-current assets EREBEE 57,305 51,195
Current assets BB E 340,992 374,535
Current liabilities mEas (84,321) (131,568)
Non-current liabilities JERBIAEE - =
Net assets BEEFE 313,976 294,162
Accumulated NCI REtIEERER 63,694 60,069
Period from 1 January 2021 to BZ-Z-_—f—H—HE
30 June 2022/year ended ZEZZHEAXB=+HLEBAS
31 December 2020: B#E_T_THF+_-_A=+—H
LEFE:
Revenue W 900,651 536,745
Profit for the year FREF 29,814 31,179
Total comprehensive income el gt 29,814 31,179
(Loss)/Profit allocated to NCI AEEFIEEREE> (B8 wh 5,545 5,799
Dividends paid to NCI TAFIEERERZER (1,860) (610)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KESEEITS, (FTA) 2 IREe 358
operating activities 53,679 (11,452)
Net cash used in investing activities REEREFTEZIRE 35 (13,462) (17,524)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBMAZIRE S8 (44,121) (2,057)
Net decrease in cash and cash RekREEEBEE R FE
equivalents (3,904) (31,033)

As at 30 June 2022, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB30,128,000 (year ended 31 December 2020: RMB32,503,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign

Exchange Control Regulations.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the

Board of Directors on 29 September 2022.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEMBHRE

BT ECERMBREAKBEEMEND
B AEEBERBEVBIRE FEZEBERE
ERGEHEHRIWT

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial period/years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

For

For the year ended 31 December 18-month

BE+_A=+—HLEE

period ended

2017 2018 2019 2020 30 June 2022
8%
k- St 3
AB=+HL
—E—+F —E-N\EF —E-NEF S S WASEER: 1]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBFR
RESULTS ES
Revenue Wz 367,107 426,149 580,456 581,112 902,652
(Loss)/profit before taxation Bl (B518) aF (12,141) (52,271) 10,139 32,620 3,367
Income tax expense PRGNS (900) (1,133) (2,064) (11,940) (5,452)
(Loss)/profit for the period/year  Hi,/E R (§518) /7| (13,041) (53,404) 8,075 20,680 (8,819)
Attributable to: &S
Owners of the Company RRABEBA (14,606) (48,937) 3,322 15,854 (14,304)
Non-controlling interests FFERER 1,565 (4,467) 4,753 4,826 5,485
(13,041) (53,404) 8,075 20,680 (8,819)
As at 31 December As at
R+-ZB=+—H 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020 2022
WZE-Z
—E—+& —2-N\EF —Z-hE TECRE ~NA=+H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBFR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FERBEE 156,205 35,776 259,330 264,637 267,515
Current assets MEBEE 224,025 441,193 522,959 509,950 494,616
Current liabilities mEaA (113,863) (90,686) (183,383) (278,603) (278,617)
Non-current liabilities EREaRE (24,086) = (125,121) (885) =
NET ASSETS BEFE 242,281 386,283 473,785 495,099 483,514
Share capital (EEN 88,872 318,093 391,760 391,760 391,760
Share premium and reserves BRAD B R 97,914 17,162 26,244 43,270 28,060
Proposed final dividend BEFHAKES - - - - -
Non-controlling interests FEERER 55,495 51,028 55,781 60,069 63,694
TOTAL EQUITY s 242,281 386,283 473,785 495,099 483,514

160

Mayer Holdings Limited
Report for the 18 Months Ended 30.06.2022






	封面
	目錄
	詞彙
	公司資料
	管理層討論及分析
	對保留意見之回應╱移除
	企業管治報告
	董事及高級管理人員履歷
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務摘要
	封底



